EX-10.6.1 2 d532389dex1061.htm REVENUE INTERESTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Exhibit 10.6.1

Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.24b-2, confidential information has been omitted in places marked “***” and has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a Confidential Treatment Application filed with the Commission.

Execution Version

REVENUE INTERESTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Dated as of October 5, 2012

between

AxoGen, Inc.

and

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

Table of Contents

|  |  |  | Page |
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS |  |  | 1 |
ARTICLE II PURCHASE OF INTERESTS |  |  | 13 |
Section 2.01 |  | Purchase. |  |  | 13 |
Section 2.02 |  | Payments by the Company. |  |  | 14 |
Section 2.03 |  | Closing; Payment Purchase Price; Closing Deliveries. |  |  | 14 |
Section 2.04 |  | No Assumed Obligations. |  |  | 15 |
ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF COMPANY |  |  | 15 |
Section 3.01 |  | Organization. |  |  | 15 |
Section 3.02 |  | Authorization. |  |  | 15 |
Section 3.03 |  | Governmental Authorization. |  |  | 16 |
Section 3.04 |  | Ownership. |  |  | 16 |
Section 3.05 |  | Financial Statements. |  |  | 17 |
Section 3.06 |  | No Undisclosed Liabilities. |  |  | 17 |
Section 3.07 |  | Solvency. |  |  | 17 |
Section 3.08 |  | Litigation. |  |  | 17 |
Section 3.09 |  | Compliance with Laws. |  |  | 17 |
Section 3.10 |  | Conflicts. |  |  | 18 |
Section 3.11 |  | Subordination. |  |  | 18 |
Section 3.12 |  | Intellectual Property. |  |  | 18 |
Section 3.13 |  | Regulatory Approval. |  |  | 20 |
Section 3.14 |  | Material Contracts. |  |  | 21 |
Section 3.15 |  | Place of Business. |  |  | 21 |
Section 3.16 |  | Broker’s Fees. |  |  | 21 |
Section 3.17 |  | Other Information. |  |  | 22 |
Section 3.18 |  | Insurance. |  |  | 22 |
Section 3.19 |  | Taxes. |  |  | 22 |
ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER |  |  | 22 |
Section 4.01 |  | Organization. |  |  | 22 |
Section 4.02 |  | Authorization. |  |  | 23 |
Section 4.03 |  | Broker’s Fees. |  |  | 23 |
Section 4.04 |  | Conflicts. |  |  | 23 |

- i -

Table of Contents

(continued)

|  |  |  | Page |
ARTICLE V COVENANTS |  |  | 23 |
Section 5.01 |  | Consents and Waivers. |  |  | 23 |
Section 5.02 |  | Access; Information. |  |  | 24 |
Section 5.03 |  | Material Contracts. |  |  | 25 |
Section 5.04 |  | Confidentiality; Public Announcement. |  |  | 25 |
Section 5.05 |  | Guarantee and Collateral Agreement. |  |  | 26 |
Section 5.06 |  | Efforts; Further Assurance. |  |  | 26 |
Section 5.07 |  | Change of Control; Put Option. |  |  | 27 |
Section 5.08 |  | Remittance to Deposit Account. |  |  | 28 |
Section 5.09 |  | Intellectual Property. |  |  | 30 |
Section 5.10 |  | Negative Covenants. |  |  | 31 |
Section 5.11 |  | Insurance. |  |  | 31 |
Section 5.12 |  | Notice. |  |  | 32 |
Section 5.13 |  | Use of Proceeds. |  |  | 32 |
Section 5.14 |  | Taxes. |  |  | 32 |
Section 5.15 |  | Board Designee. |  |  | 32 |
Section 5.16 |  | Rights to Future Stock Issuances. |  |  | 33 |
ARTICLE VI TERMINATION |  |  | 34 |
Section 6.01 |  | Termination Date. |  |  | 34 |
Section 6.02 |  | Effect of Termination. |  |  | 34 |
ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS |  |  | 35 |
Section 7.01 |  | Survival. |  |  | 35 |
Section 7.02 |  | Specific Performance; Limitations on Damages. |  |  | 35 |
Section 7.03 |  | Notices. |  |  | 35 |
Section 7.04 |  | Successors and Assigns. |  |  | 36 |
Section 7.05 |  | Indemnification. |  |  | 37 |
Section 7.06 |  | No Implied Representations and Warranties. |  |  | 38 |
Section 7.07 |  | Independent Nature of Relationship. |  |  | 38 |
Section 7.08 |  | Federal Tax. |  |  | 39 |
Section 7.09 |  | Entire Agreement. |  |  | 39 |
Section 7.10 |  | Amendments; No Waivers. |  |  | 39 |

- ii -

Table of Contents

(continued)

|  |  |  | Page |
Section 7.11 |  | Interpretation. |  |  | 40 |
Section 7.12 |  | Headings and Captions. |  |  | 40 |
Section 7.13 |  | Counterparts; Effectiveness. |  |  | 40 |
Section 7.14 |  | Severability. |  |  | 40 |
Section 7.15 |  | Expenses. |  |  | 40 |
Section 7.16 |  | Governing Law; Jurisdiction. |  |  | 40 |
Section 7.17 |  | Waiver of Jury Trial. |  |  | 41 |

- iii -

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A |  |  | – |  |  | Form of Guarantee and Collateral Agreement
Exhibit B |  |  | – |  |  | Form of Assignment of Interests
Exhibit C |  |  | – |  |  | Form of Deposit Agreement
Exhibit D |  |  |  |  |  | Form of Legal Opinion

REVENUE INTERESTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This REVENUE INTERESTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of October 5, 2012, by and between AxoGen, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Company”), and PDL BioPharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Purchaser”).

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to obtain financing in respect of the commercialization of the Product (as hereinafter defined) and to sell, assign, convey and transfer to Purchaser in consideration for its payment of the Purchase Price (as hereinafter defined), and Purchaser wishes to purchase from the Company, the Assigned Interests (as hereinafter defined), all upon and subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth;

WHEREAS, the Company and Purchaser entered into that certain Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement, dated August 14, 2012 (“Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which, Purchaser paid $1,750,000.00 (the “Interim Payment”) for the acquisition of certain of the Company’s revenue rights; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire for this Agreement to amend, restate and replace the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement in its entirety.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements representations and warranties set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

| Section 1.01 | Definitions.

The following terms, as used herein, shall have the following meanings:

“2013 Annual Meeting” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.15.

“Accounts” shall mean, collectively, the Deposit Account, the Joint Concentration Account, the Company Concentration Account and the Purchaser Concentration Account, each established and maintained pursuant to the Deposit Agreement.

“Affiliate” shall mean any Person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with another Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” shall mean (i) in the case of corporate entities, direct or indirect ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) of the stock or shares having the right to vote for the election of directors, and (ii) in the case of non-corporate entities, direct or indirect ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) of the equity interest with the power to direct the management and policies of such non-corporate entities.

“Aggregate Deposit Funds” shall mean any and all financial assets, funds, monies, checks or other items deposited into the Deposit Account.

“Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

- 1 -

“Applicable Percentage” shall mean 9.95%.

“Assigned Interests” shall mean the following amounts of the Company’s Net Revenues:

(a) from the Closing Date until September 30, 2014, an amount equal to the product of the Applicable Percentage multiplied by the Company’s Net Revenues;

(b) for each of the following twenty-four (24) Fiscal Quarters, the greater of (i) an amount equal to the Applicable Percentage of the Company’s Net Revenues for such Fiscal Quarter or (ii) the following amounts:

(i) for the quarter ending December 31, 2014, $1,250,805;

(ii) for the quarter ending March 31, 2015, $1,452,146;

(iii) for the quarter ending June 30, 2015, $1,558,610;

(iv) for the quarter ending September 30, 2015, $1,769,395;

(v) for the quarter ending December 31, 2015, $2,001,289;

(vi) for the quarter ending March 31, 2016, $2,323,434;

(vii) for the quarter ending June 30, 2016, $2,182,055;

(viii) for the quarter ending September 30, 2016, $2,477,153;

(ix) for the quarter ending December 31, 2016, $2,250,000;

(x) for the quarter ending March 31, 2017, $2,250,000;

(xi) for the quarter ending June 30, 2017, $2,250,000;

(xii) for the quarter ending September 30, 2017, $2,250,000;

(xiii) for the quarter ending December 31, 2017, $2,250,000;

(xiv) for the quarter ending March 31, 2018, $2,250,000;

(xv) for the quarter ending June 30, 2018, $2,250,000;

(xvi) for the quarter ending September 30, 2018, $2,250,000;

(xvii) for the quarter ending December 31, 2018, $2,250,000;

(xviii) for the quarter ending March 31, 2019, $2,250,000;

(xix) for the quarter ending June 30, 2019, $2,250,000;

(xx) for the quarter ending September 30, 2019, $2,250,000;

- 2 -

(xxi) for the quarter ending December 31, 2019, $2,313,000;

(xxii) for the quarter ending March 31, 2020, $2,313,000;

(xxiii) for the quarter ending June 30, 2020, $2,313,000; and

(xxiv) for the quarter ending September 30, 2020, $2,313,000.

“Assigned Interests Collateral” shall mean the property included in the definition of “Collateral” in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

“Assignment of Interests” shall mean the Assignment of Interests pursuant to which the Company shall assign to Purchaser all of its rights and interests in and to the Assigned Interests purchased hereunder, which Assignment of Interests shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit B.

“Audit Costs” shall mean, with respect to any audit of the books and records of the Company with respect to amounts payable or paid under this Agreement, the reasonable out-of-pocket cost of such audit, including all fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

“Bankruptcy Event” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following:

(a) the Company shall commence any case, proceeding or other action (i) under any existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, relief of debtors or the like, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate it bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to it or its debts, or (ii) seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for all or any portion of its assets, or the Company shall make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors;

(b) there shall be commenced against the Company any case, proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (a) above which remains undismissed, undischarged or unbonded for a period of sixty (60) days;

(c) there shall be commenced against the Company any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process against (i) all or any substantial portion of its assets and/or (ii) the Product or any substantial portion of the Intellectual Property related to the Product, which results in the entry of an order for any such relief which shall not have been vacated, discharged, stayed, satisfied or bonded pending appeal within sixty (60) days from the entry thereof;

(d) the failure of the Company to take action to object to any of the acts set forth in clause (b) or (c) above within ten (10) days of the Company receiving written notice of such act; or

(e) the Company shall generally not, or shall be unable to, or shall admit in writing its inability to, pay its respective debts as they become due.

- 3 -

“BLA” shall mean a biologics license application and all amendments and supplements thereto, submitted to the FDA with respect to Avance® Nerve Graft.

“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, any day which is a legal holiday under the laws of the State of New York, or any day on which banking institutions located in the State of New York are required by law or other governmental action to close.

“Call Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(c).

“Call Option” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(c).

“Change of Control” shall mean:

(a) the acquisition by any Person or group (within the meaning of Sections 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of beneficial ownership of any capital stock of the Company, if after such acquisition, such Person or group would be the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;

(b) a merger or consolidation of the Company, with any other Person, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the Company’s voting securities outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the Company’s voting securities or such surviving entity’s voting securities outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation;

(c) during any period of two (2) consecutive years, measured from the first Business Day after the Purchaser Designee appointed pursuant to Section 5.15 hereof takes office, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the board of directors of the Company (together with any new directors (other than a director designated by a Person who has entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction described in clause (a) or (b) of this definition of “Change of Control”), whose election by such board of directors or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders, as applicable, was approved by a vote of a majority of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the board of directors of the Company then in office, provided that for purposes of determining a Change of Control pursuant to this clause (c), the directorship held by the Purchaser Designee shall be disregarded.

(d) the bona fide sale, lease, transfer, exclusive license or other disposition, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of all or substantially all the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or the sale or disposition (whether by merger or otherwise) of one or more Subsidiaries of the Company if substantially all of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are held by such Subsidiary or Subsidiaries, except where such sale, lease, transfer, exclusive license or other disposition is to a wholly owned (direct or indirect) Subsidiary of the Company.

- 4 -

“Change of Control Payment” shall mean the sum of (i) an amount that, when paid to Purchaser, would generate an IRR to Purchaser of thirty-two and one half percent (32.5%) on all payments made by Purchaser pursuant to the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement and Section 2.03 of this Agreement as of the date of the Change of Control Payment, taking into account the amount and timing of all payments made by the Company to Purchaser (and retained by Purchaser) pursuant to Sections 2.02 and 5.08 of this Agreement and, if applicable, the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement, prior to and as of the date of payment of the Change of Control Payment, plus (ii) any Delinquent Assigned Interests Payment owed (it being understood and agreed that in calculating the Change of Control Payment, in no event shall Purchaser be required to repay any amounts previously paid to Purchaser pursuant to Sections 2.02 and 5.08 of this Agreement if such payments exceed the IRR required pursuant to this definition).

“Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(a).

“Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(a).

“Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

“Company Concentration Account” shall mean a segregated account established and maintained at the Deposit Bank pursuant to the terms of the Deposit Agreement and this Agreement. The Company Concentration Account shall be the account into which the funds remaining in the Joint Concentration Account after payment therefrom of the amounts payable to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement are swept in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Deposit Agreement.

“Company Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(b).

“Confidential Information” shall mean, as it relates to the Company and its Affiliates and the Product, the Intellectual Property, confidential business information, financial data and other like information (including ideas, research and development, know-how, formulas, schematics, compositions, technical data, specifications, customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information, and business and marketing plans and proposals), inventory, ideas, algorithms, processes, computer software programs or applications (in both source code and object code form), client lists and tangible or intangible proprietary information or material, or such other information that either party identifies to the other as confidential or the nature of which or the circumstances of the disclosure of which would reasonably indicate that such information is confidential. Notwithstanding the foregoing definition, Confidential Information shall not include information that (a) is already in the public domain at the time the information is disclosed, (b) thereafter becomes lawfully obtainable from other sources who, to the knowledge of the recipient, have no obligation of confidentiality, (c) can be shown to have been independently developed by the recipient or its representatives without reference to any Confidential Information of the other party, or (d) is required to be disclosed under securities laws, rules and regulations applicable to the Company or its Affiliates or the Purchaser or its Affiliates, as the case may be, or pursuant to the rules and regulations of any securities exchange or trading system or pursuant to any other laws, rules or regulations of any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Company and its Affiliates or Purchaser and its Affiliates.

- 5 -

“Controlled” or “Control” shall mean, with respect to Intellectual Property, the right, possession of the right, whether directly or indirectly, and whether by ownership, license or otherwise, to grant a license, sublicense or other right to or under such Intellectual Property without violating the terms of any agreement with a third party related to such Intellectual Property.

“Daily Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b).

“Default” shall mean the occurrence of any event or circumstance that would, with the giving of notice, lapse of time, or both, be an Event of Default.

“Delinquent Assigned Interests Payment” shall mean, with respect to any Assigned Interests Payment and, if owed by the Company to Purchaser, any payment due under Section 5.08(g)(iii) that is not paid when due shall, in each case, be an amount equal to the product of the amount so owed multiplied by the lower of (i) the highest rate permitted by applicable law, and (ii) one and one-half percent (1.5%) per month, compounded monthly.

“Deposit Account” shall mean collectively, any deposit and segregated deposit account established and maintained at the Deposit Bank pursuant to a Deposit Agreement and this Agreement. The Deposit Account shall be the account into which all payments made to the Company in respect of the sale of the Product are to be remitted.

“Deposit Agreement” shall mean the agreement entered into by a Deposit Bank, the Company and Purchaser, substantially in the form of Exhibit C attached hereto, pursuant to which, among other things, the Deposit Account, the Joint Concentration Account, the Purchaser Concentration Account and the Company Concentration Account shall be established and maintained.

“Deposit Bank” shall mean Silicon Valley Bank or such other bank or financial institution approved by each of Purchaser and the Company and a party to any Deposit Agreement (it being understood that the parties intend to engage a new bank within 120 days of the date hereof).

“Dispute” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(e).

“Event of Default” shall mean the occurrence of any Put Option Event (other than pursuant to clause of (a) of said definition) and any material breach by the Company of the Transaction Documents, whether or not constituting a Put Option Event.

“Excluded Liabilities and Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.04.

“Existing Agent” shall mean Midcap Financial SBIC LP, in its capacity as agent for the lenders under the Existing Credit Agreement.

“Existing Credit Agreement” shall mean that certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2011 among the Company, its Subsidiary, the Existing Agent and the lenders party thereto, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

- 6 -

“FDA” shall mean the United States Food and Drug Administration or any successor federal agency thereto.

“Financial Statements” shall mean (a) the audited consolidated balance sheets of the Company and its Subsidiary as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related audited consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the Fiscal Years then ended and (b) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiary as of June 30, 2012, and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the three (3) and six (6) month period then ended.

“Fiscal Quarter” shall mean each three (3) month period commencing January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1, provided however that (a) the first Fiscal Quarter of the Term shall extend from the Closing Date to the end of the first full Fiscal Quarter thereafter, and (b) the last Fiscal Quarter of the Term shall end upon the expiration of this Agreement.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the calendar year.

“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles in the United States in effect from time to time.

“Governmental Authority” shall mean any government, court, regulatory or administrative agency or commission, or other governmental authority, agency or instrumentality, whether foreign, federal, state or local (domestic or foreign), including the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the FDA, or the United States National Institutes of Health.

“Gross Product Revenues” means, for any period of determination, the sum of the following for such period: (a) the amounts invoiced and recognized as revenue in accordance with GAAP by the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their Affiliates with respect to the sale of Product to a Third Party by the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their Affiliates, (b) the amounts invoiced and recognized as revenue in accordance with GAAP by the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their Affiliates from a Third Party with respect to the sale, distribution or other use of the Product by such Third Party in connection with any marketing, royalty, manufacturing, co-promotion, co-development, equity investment, cost sharing or other strategic arrangements, and (c) any collections in respect of write-offs or allowances for bad debts in respect of items described in the preceding clauses (a) and (b). For purposes of prevention of duplication, “Gross Product Revenue” shall not include amounts invoiced by distributors, wholesalers or other Persons acting in similar capacities.

“Guarantee and Collateral Agreement” shall mean the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement between the Company and Purchaser providing for, among other things, the grant by the Company in favor of Purchaser of a valid continuing, perfected lien on and security interest in, the Assigned Interests and the other Assigned Interests Collateral described therein, which Guarantee and Collateral Agreement shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A.

- 7 -

“Intellectual Property” shall mean all proprietary information; technical data; laboratory notebooks; clinical data; priority rights; trade secrets; know-how; confidential information; inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice or claimed in a pending patent application) and improvements thereto; Patents; registered or unregistered trademarks, trade names, service marks, including all goodwill associated therewith; registered and unregistered copyrights and all applications thereof; in each case that are owned, Controlled by, generated by, issued to, licensed to, licensed by or hereafter acquired by or licensed by the Company, in each case relating to, or otherwise relevant or desirable, now or in the future, for the manufacture and sale of the Product.

“Interim Payment” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“IRR” shall mean the internal rate of return utilizing the same methodology utilized by the XIRR function in Microsoft Excel.

“Joint Concentration Account” shall mean a segregated account, subject to a control agreement in favor of Purchaser, established for the benefit of the Company and Purchaser and maintained at the Deposit Bank pursuant to the terms of the Deposit Agreement and this Agreement. The Joint Concentration Account shall be the account into which the Deposit Bank sweeps the funds held in the Deposit Account.

“Knowledge” shall mean the actual knowledge, or that which would or should have been known after reasonable inquiry, of any officer, director or employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries relating to a particular matter.

“License Agreement” shall mean any existing or future license, commercialization, co-promotion, collaboration, distribution, marketing or partnering agreement entered into before or during the Revenue Interest Period by the Company or any of its Affiliates relating to the Product and/or under the Intellectual Property.

“Licensees” shall mean, collectively, the licensees, sublicensees or distributors under the License Agreements; each a “Licensee”.

“Liens” shall mean any lien, hypothecation, charge, instrument, license, preference, priority, security agreement, security interest, interest, mortgage, deed of trust, option, privilege, pledge, liability, covenant, order, tax, right of recovery, trust or deemed trust (whether contractual, statutory or otherwise arising) or any encumbrance, right or claim of any other person of any kind whatsoever whether choate or inchoate, filed or unfiled, noticed or unnoticed, recorded or unrecorded, contingent or non-contingent, material or non-material, known or unknown, including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease having the same financial effect as any of the foregoing, and the filing of, or agreement to give, any financing statement under the UCC.

“Losses” shall mean collectively, any and all claims, damages, losses, judgments, awards, penalties, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection with investigating, preparing for or defending any action, suit or proceeding).

- 8 -

“Major Countries” shall mean the United States.

“Material Adverse Change” shall mean, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, any event, change, circumstance, occurrence, effect or state of facts that has caused or is reasonably likely to cause a material adverse change on the business, operations, assets, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations or prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean (a) the effect of a Material Adverse Change, (b) a material adverse effect on the validity or enforceability of any of the Transaction Documents, (c) material adverse effect on the ability of the Company to perform any of its obligations under the Transaction Documents, (d) the inability or failure of Company to make payment of the Assigned Interests or any other amounts in violation of this Agreement, and (e) any material adverse effect on the Product or the ability of the Company to distribute, market and/or sell the Product.

“Material Contract” shall mean: (a) any marketing agreement, co-promotion agreement or partnering agreement related to the manufacture, sale or distribution of the Product in any of the Major Countries; or (b) any agreement relating to any Material Patent, including any license, assignment, or agreement related to Control of such Material Patent.

“Net Revenues” shall mean, for any period of determination, the difference of

(a) Gross Product Revenues for such period, less

(b) the sum, with respect to the items described in clauses (i) and (ii) of the definition of Gross Product Revenues, of

(i) cash, trade discounts and rebates actually granted or paid Third Parties in accordance with customary industry standards,

(ii) allowances and adjustments actually credited to customers for Product that is spoiled, damaged, outdated, obsolete, returned or otherwise recalled, but only if and to the extent the same are in accordance with sound business practices and not in excess of customary industry standards,

(iii) charges for freight, postage, shipping, delivery, service and insurance charges, to the extent invoiced,

(iv) taxes, duties or other governmental charges to the extent invoiced,

(v) write-offs or allowances for bad debts,

(vi) rebates and chargebacks and other price reduction programs granted to managed care entities, Governmental Authorities, group purchasing organizations or pharmaceutical benefit management companies, and

(vii) other payments required by law to be made under Medicaid, Medicare or other government special medical assistance programs.

- 9 -

Net Revenues shall be determined in accordance with GAAP as applied by the Company and its Subsidiary on the date of this Agreement.

“New Securities” shall mean, collectively, equity securities of the Company, whether or not currently authorized, as well as rights, options, or warrants to purchase such equity securities, or securities of any type whatsoever that are, or may become, convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for such equity securities.

“Obligations” shall mean any and all obligations of the Company under the Transaction Documents.

“Offer Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.16(a).

“Patents” shall mean all patents, patent rights, patent applications, patent disclosures and invention disclosures issued or filed, together with all reissues, divisions, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, term extensions, substitutes, supplementary protection certificates and reexaminations, including the inventions claimed in any of the foregoing and any priority rights arising therefrom, covering or related to the manufacture, use and sale of the Product that are issued or filed as of the date hereof or during the Revenue Interest Period, including, without limitation, those identified in Schedule 3.12(a) in each case, which are owned, Controlled by, issued to, licensed to or licensed by the Company, its Subsidiary or any of its Affiliates.

“Person” shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, trust or other entity or organization, but not including a government or political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision.

“Product” shall mean Avance® Nerve Graft, AXOGUARD® Nerve Protector and AXOGUARD® Nerve Connector, regardless of the purpose for which such products are marketed or sold, and any and all future iterations of such products developed or licensed by the Company as a solution to repair or protect nerves as marketed in any jurisdiction.

“Purchase Price” shall mean $20,800,000 less the Interim Payment and any additional amounts due and payable under the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement as of the Closing Date.

“Purchaser” shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph hereof.

“Purchaser Concentration Account” shall mean a segregated account established for the benefit of Purchaser and maintained at a bank specified in writing by Purchaser pursuant to the terms of the Deposit Agreement and this Agreement. The Purchaser Concentration Account shall be the account into which the funds held in the Joint Concentration Account which are payable to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement are swept by the Deposit Bank in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Deposit Agreement.

“Purchaser Designee” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.15(a).

“Purchaser Indemnified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(a).

“Put Option” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(b).

- 10 -

“Put Option Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(b).

“Put Option Event” shall mean any one of the following events:

(a) the anniversary of four (4) years from the Closing Date;

(b) any Bankruptcy Event;

(c) occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect;

(d) any Transfer by the Company of its interests in the Revenue Interests or substantially all of its interest in the Product; or

(e) any material breach of any representation or warranty made by the Company in this Agreement or any material breach of or default under any covenant or agreement by the Company pursuant to a Transaction Document, which breach is not cured within thirty (30) days after the earlier of (1) written notice thereof being delivered by Purchaser to the Company and (2) the date the Company becomes aware of such material breach.

“Put Price” shall mean the sum of (i) an amount that, when paid to Purchaser, would generate an IRR to Purchaser of twenty percent (20%) on all payments made by Purchaser pursuant to the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement and Section 2.03 of this Agreement as of the date of payment of the Put Price, taking into account the amount and timing of all payments made by the Company to Purchaser (and retained by Purchaser) pursuant to Sections 2.02 and 5.08 of this Agreement and, if applicable, the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement, prior to and as of the date of payment of the Put Price, plus (ii) any Delinquent Assigned Interests Payment owed (it being understood and agreed that in calculating the Put Price, in no event shall Purchaser be required to repay any amounts previously paid to Purchaser pursuant to Sections 2.02 and 5.08 of this Agreement if such payments exceed the IRR required pursuant to this definition).

“Quarterly Report” shall mean, with respect to the relevant Fiscal Quarter of the Company, (a) a report showing Gross Profit Revenues for such quarter and the adjustments and other reconciliations used to arrive at Net Revenues for such quarter, reconciled, in each case, to the most applicable line item in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations as most recently filed or to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or furnished to Purchaser pursuant to Section 5.02(h) and (b) a reconciliation of all payments made by the Company to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement during such quarter, including all amounts deposited into the Purchaser Concentration Account during such quarter.

“Regulatory Agency” shall mean a Governmental Authority with responsibility for the approval of the marketing and sale of pharmaceuticals in the United States or other regulation of pharmaceuticals.

“Regulatory Approval” shall mean all approvals (including, without limitation, where applicable, pricing and reimbursement approval and schedule classifications), product and/or establishment licenses, registrations or authorizations of any Governmental Authority necessary for the manufacture, use, storage, import, export, transport, offer for sale, or sale of the Product in a regulatory jurisdiction.

- 11 -

“Revenue Interest Period” shall mean the period from and including the Closing Date through the earliest of:

(a) expiration of eight (8) complete years following the Closing Date;

(b) payment of the Put Price; or

(c) payment of the Change of Control Payment.

“Revenue Interests” shall mean all of the Company’s interest in the Gross Product Revenues.

“Secretary’s Certificate” shall mean the duly executed Secretary’s and Officer’s Certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser, (W) attaching certified copies of the Company’s organizational documents (together with any and all amendments thereto); (X) attaching certified copies of the resolutions adopted by the board of directors of the Company authorizing and approving the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of the Agreement and the Assignment of Interests and the transactions contemplated herein and therein; (Y) setting forth the incumbency of the officer or officers of the Company who have executed and delivered the Agreement and the Assignment of Interests; and (Z) attaching copies, certified by such officer as true and complete, of a certificate of the appropriate Governmental Authority of the Company’s jurisdiction of formation, stating that the Company is in good standing under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

“Subsidiary” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person controlled by such first Person, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries.

“Tax” or “Taxes” shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign tax, levy, impost, duty, assessment, fee, deduction or withholding or other charge, including all excise, sales, use, value added, transfer, stamp, documentary, filing, recordation and other fees imposed by any taxing authority (and interest, fines, penalties and additions related thereto).

“Tax Return” shall mean any report, return, form (including elections, declarations, statements, amendments, claims for refund, schedules, information returns or attachments thereto) or other information supplied or required to be supplied to a Governmental Authority with respect to Taxes.

“Term” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.01.

“Term Sheet” shall mean the Term Sheet between the Company and Purchaser, dated July 26, 2012.

“Third Party” shall mean any Person other than the Company.

“Transaction Documents” shall mean, collectively, this Agreement, the Assignment of Interests, the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the UCC Financing Statements, the Deposit Agreement, the Secretary’s Certificate and any related ancillary documents or agreements.

- 12 -

“Transfer” shall mean any sale, conveyance, assignment, disposition, pledge, hypothecation or transfer.

“True-Up Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.08(g)(i).

“True-Up Statement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.08(g)(i).

“UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code (or any similar or equivalent legislation) as in effect in any applicable jurisdiction.

“UCC Financing Statements” shall mean the UCC-1 financing statements, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser, that shall be filed at or promptly following the Closing, as well as any additional UCC-1 financing statements or amendments thereto as reasonably requested from time to time, to perfect Purchaser’s security interest in the Assigned Interests Collateral.

“United States” shall mean the United States of America.

“Year-to-Date Assigned Interests” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.08(g)(i).

“Year-to-Date Net Revenues” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.08(g)(i).

ARTICLE II

PURCHASE OF INTERESTS

| Section 2.01 | Purchase.

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company agrees to sell, assign, transfer and convey to Purchaser, and Purchaser agrees to purchase from the Company, free and clear of all Liens (except those Liens created in favor of Purchaser pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests and any other Transaction Document), all of the Company’s rights and interests in and to the Assigned Interests on the Closing Date. Purchaser’s ownership interest in each of the Assigned Interests so acquired shall vest immediately upon the Company’s receipt of payment for such Assigned Interests pursuant to Section 2.03(a).

(b) The Company and Purchaser intend and agree that the sale, assignment and transfer of the Assigned Interests under this Agreement is a true sale by the Company to Purchaser that provides Purchaser with the full benefits of ownership of the Assigned Interests. The Company waives any right to contest or otherwise assert that this Agreement is other than a true sale by the Company to Purchaser in any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding relating to the Company.

(c) The Company hereby consents to Purchaser recording and filing, at Purchaser’s sole cost and expense, the UCC Financing Statements and other financing statements in the appropriate filing offices under the UCC (and continuation statements with respect to such financing statements when applicable) meeting the requirements of applicable law in such manner and in such jurisdictions as are necessary or appropriate to perfect the purchase by Purchaser of the Assigned Interests.

- 13 -

| Section 2.02 | Payments by the Company.

(a) Payments in Respect of the Assigned Interests. In connection with the assignment of the Assigned Interest, Purchaser shall be entitled to receive (i) the Assigned Interests in respect of Net Revenues earned during the Revenue Interest Period and (ii) any Delinquent Assigned Interests Payment, as and when due.

(b) Interim Payments into Deposit Accounts. Subject to Section 5.08(a), within 120 days of the date hereof, the Applicable Percentage of the Aggregate Deposit Funds in each Fiscal Year shall be swept from the Deposit Account into the Purchaser Concentration Account on a daily basis (the “Daily Amount”) pursuant to Section 5.08. Prior to the establishment of Purchaser Concentration Account as contemplated by Section 5.08(a), the Company shall promptly pay to Purchaser upon demand the aggregate Daily Amount.

(c) Payment Procedure. Other than payments made pursuant to the Deposit Agreement, any payments to be made by the Company to Purchaser hereunder or under any other Transaction Document shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds.

| Section 2.03 | Closing; Payment Purchase Price; Closing Deliveries.

(a) Closing. The closing of the purchase of the Assigned Interests pursuant to this Agreement (the “Closing”) will take place concurrently with the execution of this Agreement on the date hereof (the “Closing Date”) and will be held at the offices of PDL.

(b) Payment of Purchase Price. At the Closing, Purchaser shall pay to the Company the Purchase Price by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by the Company prior to the date hereof.

(c) Closing Deliveries.

(i) At the Closing, the Company will deliver to Purchaser:

A. its duly executed counterpart to each of the Transaction Documents to which the Company is a party;

B. a duly executed Secretary’s Certificate, dated as of the Closing Date;

C. a payoff letter in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser and duly executed and delivered by the Company and the Existing Agent which provides for the payment in full of the obligations owing under the Existing Credit Agreement and release of the liens thereunder;

D. copies of the UCC Financing Statements in respect of the Assigned Interests Collateral in form for filing in each appropriate jurisdiction; and

E. a legal opinion reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser from Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP addressing such matters with respect to the Transaction Documents as set forth on Exhibit D hereto.

- 14 -

(ii) At the Closing, the Purchaser will deliver to the Company:

A. payment of the Purchase Price consistent with Section 2.03(b); and

B. its duly executed counterpart to each of the Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a party.

| Section 2.04 | No Assumed Obligations.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement or any other writing to the contrary, Purchaser is acquiring only the Assigned Interests and is not assuming any liability or obligation of the Company or any of its Affiliates of whatever nature, whether presently in existence or arising or asserted hereafter, whether under any Transaction Document or otherwise. All such liabilities and obligations shall be retained by and remain obligations and liabilities of the Company or its Affiliates (the “Excluded Liabilities and Obligations”).

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF COMPANY

For purposes of all the representations and warranties contained in Article III, the term “Product” shall mean Avance® Nerve Graft, AXOGUARD® Nerve Protector and AXOGUARD® Nerve Connector as such products currently exist and are marketed in any jurisdiction, and no broader definition shall be implied. The Company hereby represents and warrants to Purchaser, as of the Closing Date, the following:

| Section 3.01 | Organization.

Each of the Company and its Subsidiary is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the States of Minnesota and Delaware, respectively, and has all corporate powers and all licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its respective business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents. Each of the Company and its Subsidiary is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing in every jurisdiction in which the failure to do so would have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company has no direct or indirect Subsidiaries, other than AxoGen Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

| Section 3.02 | Authorization.

The Company has all necessary power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver the Transaction Documents and to perform all of the obligations to be performed by it hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder and thereunder. The Transaction Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and each Transaction Document constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their respective terms, subject, as to enforcement of remedies, to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or general equitable principles.

- 15 -

| Section 3.03 | Governmental Authorization.

The execution and delivery by the Company of the Transaction Documents, and the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, does not require any notice to, action or consent by, or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority, except for the filing of the UCC Financing Statements.

| Section 3.04 | Ownership.

(a) The Company owns, Controls, or holds a valid license under, all of the Intellectual Property and the Regulatory Approvals which it currently purports to own related to the Product free and clear of all Liens, and no license or covenant not to sue under any Intellectual Property has been granted to or exists in any Third Party. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary has granted, nor does there exist, any Lien on the Revenue Interests, the Assigned Interests or any other Collateral (except those Liens created in favor of Purchaser pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests and any other Transaction Document).

(b) The Company, immediately prior to the purchase of the Assigned Interests, owns, and is the sole holder of, all the Revenue Interests; and the Company owns, and is the sole holder of, and/or has and holds a valid, enforceable and subsisting license to, all of those other assets that are required to produce or receive any payments from any Licensee or payor under and pursuant to, and subject to the terms of any License Agreement, in each case free and clear of any and all Liens, except those Liens created in favor of Purchaser pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests and any other Transaction Document. The Company has not transferred, sold, or otherwise disposed of, or agreed to transfer, sell, or otherwise dispose of any portion of the Revenue Interests other than under the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement or as contemplated by this Agreement. No Person other than the Company has any right to receive the payments payable under any License Agreement, other than Purchaser’s rights with respect to the Assigned Interests, from and after the Closing Date. The Company has the full right to sell, transfer, convey and assign to Purchaser all of the Company’s rights and interests in and to the Assigned Interests being sold, transferred, conveyed and assigned to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement without any requirement to obtain the consent of any Person. By the delivery to Purchaser of the executed Assignment of Interests, the Company shall transfer, convey and assign to Purchaser all of the Company’s rights and interests in and to the Assigned Interests being sold, transferred, conveyed and assigned to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement, free and clear of any Liens, except those Liens created in favor of Purchaser pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests and any other Transaction Document. At the Closing, and upon the delivery of the Assignment of Interests to Purchaser by the Company, Purchaser shall have acquired good and valid rights and interests of the Company in and to the Assigned Interests being sold, transferred, conveyed and assigned to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement, free and clear of any and all Liens, except those Liens created in favor of Purchaser pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests and any other Transaction Document.

(c) As of the Closing Date and upon the Company’s execution and delivery of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, Purchaser shall have valid, continuing, first perfected lien on and security interest in the Revenue Interests, the Assigned Interests and the other Assigned Interests Collateral described in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

- 16 -

| Section 3.05 | Financial Statements.

The Financial Statements are complete and accurate in all material respects, were prepared in conformity with GAAP and present fairly in all material respects the financial position and the financial results of the Company and its Subsidiary as of the dates and for the periods covered thereby.

| Section 3.06 | No Undisclosed Liabilities.

Except for those liabilities (a) specifically identified on the face of the Financial Statements, (b) incurred by the Company in the ordinary course of business since June 30, 2012, or (c) in connection with the Obligations under the Transaction Documents, there are no material liabilities of the Company or its Subsidiary of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined or determinable.

| Section 3.07 | Solvency.

The Company and its Subsidiary, taken as a whole, are not insolvent as defined in any statute of the United States Bankruptcy Code or in the fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer statutes of the States of Delaware, Florida, Minnesota or New York. Assuming consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, (a) the present fair saleable value of the Company’s and its Subsidiary’s assets and the fair value of the Company’s and its Subsidiary’s assets are each greater than the total amount of liabilities (including contingent and unliquidated liabilities) of the Company and its Subsidiary as such liabilities mature, (b) neither the Company nor its Subsidiary has unreasonably small capital with which to engage in its respective business, and (c) neither the Company nor its Subsidiary has incurred, nor does either have present plans to or intend to incur, debts or liabilities beyond their respective ability to pay such debts or liabilities as they become absolute and matured.

| Section 3.08 | Litigation.

There is no (a) action, suit, arbitration proceeding, claim, investigation or other proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or its Subsidiary or (b) any governmental inquiry pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or its Subsidiary, in each case with respect to clauses (a) and (b) above, which, if adversely determined, would question the validity of, or could adversely affect the transactions contemplated by any of the Transaction Documents or could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. There is no action, suit, arbitration proceeding, claim, investigation or other proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company, its Subsidiary or any other Person relating to the Product, the Intellectual Property, the Regulatory Approvals, the Revenue Interests or the Assigned Interests.

| Section 3.09 | Compliance with Laws.

Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary (a) is in violation of, has violated, or to the Knowledge of the Company, is under investigation with respect to, and, (b) has been threatened to be charged with or been given notice of any violation of any law, rule, ordinance or regulation of, or any judgment, order, writ, decree, permit or license entered by any Governmental Authority applicable to the Company, the Assigned Interests or the Revenue Interests which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

- 17 -

| Section 3.10 | Conflicts.

Neither the execution and delivery of any of this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents to which the Company is a party nor the performance or consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby will: (a) contravene, conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under, or accelerate the performance provided by, in any material respects any provisions of: (i) any law, rule, ordinance or regulation of any Governmental Authority, or any judgment, order, writ, decree, permit or license of any Governmental Authority, to which the Company or its Subsidiary or any of their respective assets or properties may be subject or bound; or (ii) any contract, agreement, commitment or instrument to which the Company or its Subsidiary is a party or by which the Company or its Subsidiary or any of their respective assets or properties is bound or committed; (b) contravene, conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under, or accelerate the performance provided by, any provisions of the articles or certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or other organizational or constitutional documents) of the Company or its Subsidiary; (c) except for the filing of the UCC Financing Statements required hereunder and filings with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, require any notification to, filing with, or consent of, any Person or Governmental Authority; (d) give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation of the Company, its Subsidiary or any other Person or to a loss of any benefit relating to the Revenue Interests or the Assigned Interests; or (e) other than pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests, or any other Transaction Document, result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on (i) the assets or properties of the Company or its Subsidiary or (ii) the Assigned Interests, the Revenue Interests, or any other Assigned Interests Collateral, except, in the case of the foregoing clauses (a), (c), (d) or (e), for any such breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

| Section 3.11 | Subordination.

The claims and rights of Purchaser created by any Transaction Document in and to the Assigned Interests, the Revenue Interests and any other Assigned Interests Collateral are not and shall not be subordinated to any creditor of the Company or any other Person.

| Section 3.12 | Intellectual Property.

(a) Schedule 3.12(a) sets forth an accurate, true and complete list of all (i) Patents and utility models, (ii) trade names, registered trademarks, registered service marks, and applications for trademark registration or service mark registration, (iii) registered copyrights and (iv) domain name registrations and websites, in each case with respect to clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above in this subsection (a) that the Company owns or licenses and which are necessary to make, have made, use, sell, have sold, offer for sale, import, develop, promote, market, distribute, manufacture, commercialize or otherwise exploit the Product in the jurisdictions where the Product marketed and sold. For each item of Intellectual Property listed on Schedule 3.12(a), the Company has identified (x) the owner, (y) the countries in which such listed item is patented or registered or in which an application for Patent or registration is pending and (z) the application

- 18 -

number, the Patent number or registration number. To the Company’s Knowledge, except as disclosed therein, each Patent and trademark listed on Schedule 3.12(a) is valid, enforceable and subsisting and none has lapsed, expired, been cancelled or become abandoned. The Patent applications listed in Schedule 3.12(a) have been prosecuted by competent patent counsel in a diligent manner. After due inquiry, the Company has determined that there are no published patents, patent applications, articles, prior art references, public uses, undisclosed information (including best mode) or other grounds, factors or circumstances that could adversely affect the validity or enforceability of any of the Patents listed in Schedule 3.12(a). After due inquiry, the Company has determined that all Persons relevant to the prosecution of any of the Material Patents or applications related thereto have complied with the duty to disclose information and/or the duty of candor, including obligations to the United States Patent and Trademark Office specified under Rule 56. To the Company’s Knowledge, each of the Material Patents and Material Patent applications correctly identifies each and every inventor of the claims thereof as determined in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which such Material Patent is issued or such Material Patent application is pending. To the Company’s Knowledge, each Person who has or has had any rights in or to the Intellectual Property listed on Schedule 3.12(a) that are owned by, or licensed to, the Company, including, each inventor named on the Patents and Patent applications listed in Schedule 3.12(a), has executed an agreement assigning his, her or its entire right, title and interest in and to such Intellectual Property, and the inventions embodied, described and/or claimed therein, to the purported owner and no such Person has any contractual or other obligation that would preclude or conflict with any such assignment or otherwise conflict with the obligations of such Person to the applicable owner of each listed Intellectual Property. To the Company’s Knowledge, all Persons having a claim to inventorship to any pending or issued claim of the Patents are currently listed as inventors with respect to such Patents, and that the Company has performed an appropriate inquiry with respect to such inventorship.

(b) Except for Intellectual Property licensed to and owned by the Company and set forth on Schedule 3.12(a), no other Intellectual Property is necessary to make, have made, offer to sell, sell, have sold, use, import, distribute, commercialize or market the Product in the Major Countries. The use, manufacture, import, export, offer for sale, distribution, marketing and sale of the Product does not infringe any patents that are owned by a Third Party in the Major Countries.

(c) The Company has the full right, power and authority to grant all of the rights and interests granted to Purchaser in this Agreement.

(d) To the Company’s Knowledge, there are no unpaid maintenance, annuity or renewal fees currently overdue for any of the Patents that cover the manufacture, use or sale of the Product or which cover compositions of matter and/or processes which relate to the Product or alternatives thereto (“Material Patents”).

(e) There is, and has been, no pending, decided or settled opposition, interference proceeding, reexamination proceeding, cancellation proceeding, injunction, claim, lawsuit, declaratory judgment, administrative post-grant review proceeding, other administrative or judicial proceeding, hearing, investigation, complaint, arbitration, mediation, International Trade Commission investigation, decree, or any other filed claim (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Disputes”) related to any of the Material Patents, nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, has

- 19 -

any such Dispute been threatened challenging the legality, validity, enforceability or ownership of any Material Patents or which would give rise to a credit against the revenues or royalties due to the Company for the manufacture, sale, offer for sale, use, importation or exportation of the Product and the Company has no notice of any facts that would form the basis for such a Dispute. There are no Disputes by any Person or Third Party against the Company, its Licensees or its licensor, and the Company has not received any written notice or claim of any such Dispute as pertaining to the Product. Neither the Company nor its licensor has sent any notice of any such Dispute to a Third Party. The Company is not subject to any outstanding injunction, judgment, order, decree, ruling, charge, settlement or other disposition of Dispute which relates to the Product or the Patents.

(f) There is no pending or threatened action, suit, or proceeding, or any investigation or claim by any Governmental Authority to which the Company is a party (i) that would be the subject of a claim for indemnification by any Person or Third Party under any agreement, or (ii) that the marketing, sale or distribution of the Product worldwide by the Company or its by Licensees pursuant to the related License Agreement, as applicable, does or will infringe on any patent of any other Person, and there is no basis for any such action, suit, proceeding, investigation or claim of the type described in clause (i) or (ii) above. To the Company’s Knowledge, there are no pending published or unpublished United States, international or foreign patent applications owned by any other Person, which, if issued, would limit or prohibit, in any material respect, the use of the Product or the licensed Intellectual Property relating to the Product.

(g) The Company has taken all commercially reasonable measures and precautions necessary to protect and maintain (i) the confidentiality of all Intellectual Property that it owns and (ii) the value of all Intellectual Property related to the Product, except where such failure to take action would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h) No material trade secret of the Company has been published or disclosed to any Person except pursuant to a written agreement requiring such Person to keep such trade secret confidential, except where such disclosure would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(i) Each Product, or its manufacture or use, is covered by one or more claims of an issued Patent in the United States.

| Section 3.13 | Regulatory Approval.

(a) The Company and its Subsidiary have made available to Purchaser any written reports or other written communications received from a Governmental Authority that would indicate that any Regulatory Agency (A) is not likely to approve the BLA, (B) is likely to revise or revoke any current Regulatory Approval granted by any Regulatory Agency with respect to the Product, or (C) is likely to pursue any material compliance actions against the Company.

(b) The Company and its Subsidiary possess all Regulatory Approvals issued or required by the appropriate Regulatory Agencies, which Regulatory Approvals are necessary to conduct the current clinical trials relating to the Product, and neither the Company nor its Subsidiary has received any notice of proceedings relating to the revocation, suspension, termination or modification of any such Regulatory Approvals.

- 20 -

(c) The Company and its Subsidiary are in material compliance with, and has materially complied with, all applicable federal, state, local and foreign laws, rules, regulations, standards, orders and decrees governing its business, including all regulations promulgated by each Regulatory Agency, the failure of compliance with which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; the Company and its Subsidiary have not received any notice citing action or inaction by any of them that would constitute any material non-compliance with any applicable federal, state, local and foreign laws, rules, regulations, or standards, which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and to the Company’s Knowledge, no prospective change in any applicable federal, state, local or foreign laws, rules, regulations or standards has been adopted which, when made effective, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Preclinical and clinical trials conducted on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiary relating to the Product were conducted in compliance with applicable laws and, in all material respects, in accordance with experimental protocols, procedures and controls pursuant to, where applicable, accepted professional and scientific standards; the descriptions of the results of such trials provided to Purchaser are accurate in all material respects. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary has received any notices or correspondence from any Regulatory Agency or comparable authority requiring the termination, suspension, or material modification or clinical hold of any clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiary with respect to the Product, which termination, suspension, material modification or clinical hold could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

| Section 3.14 | Material Contracts.

Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary is in breach of or in default under any Material Contract which default, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of the Company, nothing has occurred and no condition exists that would permit any other party thereto to terminate any Material Contract. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary has received any notice or, to the Knowledge of the Company, any threat of termination of any such Material Contract. To the Knowledge of the Company, no other party to a Material Contract is in breach of or in default under such Material Contract. All Material Contracts are valid and binding on the Company or its Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of the Company, on each other party thereto, and are in full force and effect. The Company is in compliance with all obligations of the Amended and Restated Standard Exclusive License Agreement with Sublicensing Terms between AxoGen Corporation and the University of Florida Research Foundation dated February 21, 2006, and the Patent License Agreement between AxoGen Corporation and the Board of Regents of The University of Texas System dated July 19, 2005.

| Section 3.15 | Place of Business.

The Company’s principal place of business and chief executive office are set forth on Schedule 3.15.

- 21 -

| Section 3.16 | Broker’s Fees.

The Company and its Subsidiary have not taken any action that would entitle any Person to any commission or broker’s fee in connection with this Agreement except fees, commissions and expenses to be paid to JMP Securities LLC, all of which will be paid by the Company.

| Section 3.17 | Other Information.

No written statement, information, report or materials prepared by or on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiary and furnished to Purchaser by or on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiary in connection with any Transaction Document or any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby, no written representation, warranty or statement made by the Company or its Subsidiary in any Transaction Document, and no Schedule or Exhibit hereto or thereto, in each case taken in the aggregate, contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits any statement of material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein in light of the circumstances under which they were made not misleading.

| Section 3.18 | Insurance.

There are in full force and effect insurance policies maintained by the Company with an insurance company rated not less than “A-” by A.M. Best Company, Inc., with coverages and in amounts customary for companies of comparable size and condition similarly situated in the same industry as the Company, including product liability insurance, directors and officers insurance and insurance against litigation liability, subject only to such exclusions and deductible items as are usual and customary in insurance policies of such type. All material insurable risks in respect of the business and assets of the Company and its Subsidiary are covered by such insurance policies. The Company has named Purchaser as an additional insured party with respect to its general liability and product liability insurance policies. A schedule of the Company’s insurance policy or insurance policies is attached hereto as Schedule 3.18.

| Section 3.19 | Taxes.

The Company has timely filed (taking into account all extensions of due dates) all Tax returns required to be filed by, or on behalf of, it and has timely paid all Taxes required to be paid with such returns. All Tax Returns filed by the Company (or on its behalf) have been true, correct and complete in all material respects. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.19, there is no outstanding or, to the Company’s Knowledge, threatened action, claim or other examination or proceeding with respect to Taxes of the Company or its assets (including with respect to the Assigned Interests and the Revenue Interests). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.19, there are no Taxes of the Company that form or could form, individually or in the aggregate, the basis for a material encumbrance (other than encumbrances for current taxes not yet past due) on any of its assets (including the Assigned Interests and the Revenue Interests).

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchaser represents and warrants to the Company the following:

| Section 4.01 | Organization.

Purchaser is a corporation duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware.

- 22 -

| Section 4.02 | Authorization.

Purchaser has all necessary power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver the Transaction Documents and to perform all of the obligations to be performed by it hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder and thereunder. The Transaction Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by Purchaser and each Transaction Document constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with their respective terms, subject, as to enforcement of remedies, to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally or general equitable principles.

| Section 4.03 | Broker’s Fees.

Purchaser has not taken any action that would entitle any Person to any commission or broker’s fee in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

| Section 4.04 | Conflicts.

Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any other Transaction Document to which Purchaser is a party nor the performance or consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby will: (a) contravene, conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under, or accelerate the performance provided by, in any material respects any provisions of: (i) any law, rule or regulation of any Governmental Authority, or any judgment, order, writ, decree, permit or license of any Governmental Authority, to which Purchaser or any of its assets or properties may be subject or bound; or (ii) any contract, agreement, commitment or instrument to which Purchaser is a party or by which Purchaser or any of its assets or properties is bound or committed; (b) contravene, conflict with, result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under, or accelerate the performance provided by, any provisions of the organizational or constitutional documents of Purchaser; or (c) require any notification to, filing with, or consent of, any Person or Governmental Authority, except, in the case of the foregoing clauses (a) or (c), for any such breaches, defaults or other occurrences that would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the ability of Purchaser to perform any of its obligations under the Transaction Documents.

ARTICLE V

COVENANTS

From the date hereof through and including the end of the Revenue Interest Period, the following covenants shall apply:

| Section 5.01 | Consents and Waivers.

The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and maintain any required consents, acknowledgements, certificates or waivers so that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document may be consummated and shall not result in any default or breach or termination of any of the Material Contracts.

- 23 -

| Section 5.02 | Access; Information.

(a) License Notices. Subject to any applicable confidentiality restrictions, the Company shall promptly provide Purchaser with copies of any material written notices received or given by the Company under any Material Contract, and to the extent the Company is barred from providing Purchaser with copies of such notices due to any applicable confidentiality restrictions, the Company shall (i) inform Purchaser of the existence of such notice accompanied by a written description of the substance contained in such notice and (ii) promptly seek the removal or waiver of any such confidentiality restrictions so as to permit a free exchange of information with the Purchaser regarding the substance of such notice. The Company shall promptly notify Purchaser of any breaches or alleged breaches under any Material Contracts and of any other events with respect to any Material Contract or the subject matter thereof which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Litigation or Investigations. The Company shall promptly notify Purchaser of (i) any action, demand, suit, claim, cause of action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the best knowledge of the Company, threatened by or against the Company, or (ii) proceeding or inquiry of any Governmental Authority pending or, to the best knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company, related to any Material Contract, the Product, the Patents or any Transaction Document.

(c) Maintenance of Books and Records. The Company shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, at all times accurate and complete books and records. During the Term, the Company shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, at all times full and accurate books of account and records adequate to correctly reflect all payments paid and/or payable with respect to the Revenue Interests and Assigned Interests and all deposits made into the applicable deposit accounts.

(d) Inspection Rights. Purchaser and any of Purchaser’s representatives shall have the right, once a year (and at any other time a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred or be continuing), to visit the Company and its Subsidiaries’ offices and properties where the Company and its Subsidiaries keep and maintain their books and records relating or pertaining to the Revenue Interests, the Assigned Interests and the other Assigned Interests Collateral for purposes of conducting an audit of such books and records, and to inspect, copy and audit such books and records, during normal business hours, and, upon five (5) Business Days’ written notice given by Purchaser to the Company (provided one (1) Business Day’s notice shall be required if a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing), the Company will provide Purchaser and any of Purchaser’s representatives reasonable access to such books and records, and shall permit Purchaser and any of Purchaser’s representatives to discuss the business, operations, properties and financial and other condition of the Company or any of its Affiliates including, but not limited to, matters relating or pertaining to the Revenue Interests, the Assigned Interests and any the other Assigned Interests Collateral with officers of such parties, and with their independent certified public accountants.

(e) Audit Costs. In the event any audit of the books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries relating to the Revenue Interests, Assigned Interests, and the other Assigned Interests Collateral by Purchaser and/or any of Purchaser’s representatives reveals that the amounts paid to Purchaser hereunder for the period of such audit have been understated by more

- 24 -

than five percent (5%) of the amounts determined to be due for the period subject to such audit, then the Audit Costs in respect of such audit shall be borne by the Company; and in all other cases, such Audit Costs shall be borne by Purchaser.

(f) Quarterly Reports. During the Term, the Company shall, promptly after the end of each Fiscal Quarter of the Company (but in no event later than forty-five (45) days following the end of such quarter), produce and deliver to Purchaser a Quarterly Report for such quarter, together with a certificate of the Company, certifying that to the best Knowledge of the Company (i) such Quarterly Report is a true and complete copy and (ii) any statements and any data and information therein prepared by the Company are true, correct and accurate in all material respects.

(g) GAAP Accounting. The Company shall maintain a system of accounting established and administered in accordance with sound business practices to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP.

(h) Periodic Reports. In the event that the Company is not subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Company shall deliver to Purchaser the following financial statements:

(i) Within forty-five (45) days after the end of each Fiscal Quarter, copies of the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Quarter; and

(ii) Within forty-five (45) days after the end of each Fiscal Year, copies of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries for such Fiscal Year.

| Section 5.03 | Material Contracts.

The Company shall comply with all material terms and conditions of and fulfill all of its obligations under all the Material Contracts. The Company shall not amend, modify or supplement any Material Contract in a manner which would adversely affect Purchaser or issue any waivers, consents, or other approvals under any Material Contract in a manner which would adversely affect Purchaser without the prior written consent of Purchaser. Upon the occurrence of a material breach of any Material Contract by any Third Party thereto, which is not cured pursuant to the express terms as provided therein (disregarding any rights of waiver or extensions of time or other rights or consents that are excisable at the discretion of the Company), the Company shall, in its discretion but in accordance with its sound business judgment, use its commercially reasonable efforts to enforce its rights and remedies thereunder.

| Section 5.04 | Confidentiality; Public Announcement.

(a) All Confidential Information furnished by Purchaser to the Company or by the Company to Purchaser in connection with this Agreement and any other Transaction Document and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, as well as the terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document, shall be kept confidential by the Company and Purchaser. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and Purchaser may disclose such Confidential Information to their partners, directors, employees, managers,

- 25 -

officers, investors, bankers, advisors, trustees and representatives, provided that such Persons shall be informed of the confidential nature of such information and shall be obligated to keep such information confidential pursuant to the terms of this Section 5.04(a). The Company will consult with Purchaser, and Purchaser will consult with the Company, on the form, content and timing of any such disclosures of Confidential Information, including, without limitation, any disclosures made pursuant to applicable securities laws or made to investment or other analysts.

(b) Except as required by law or the rules and regulations of any securities exchange or trading system or the FDA or any Governmental Authority with similar regulatory authority, or except with the prior written consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), no party shall issue any press release or make any other public disclosure with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction Document; provided, however, that the Company and Purchaser may jointly prepare a press release for dissemination promptly following the Closing Date.

| Section 5.05 | Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

During the Revenue Interest Period, the Company shall, at all times until the Obligations are paid and performed in full, grant in favor of Purchaser a valid, continuing, first perfected lien on and security interest in the Revenue Interests, the Assigned Interests and the other Assigned Interests Collateral described in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

| Section 5.06 | Efforts; Further Assurance.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of Purchaser and the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary under applicable laws and regulations to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and any other Transaction Document. Purchaser and the Company agree to execute and deliver such other documents, certificates, agreements and other writings (including any financing statement filings requested by Purchaser) and to take such other actions as may be reasonably necessary in order to consummate or implement expeditiously the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and any other Transaction Document and to vest in Purchaser good, valid and marketable rights and interests in and to the Assigned Interests free and clear of all Liens, except those Liens created in favor of Purchaser pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Assignment of Interests and any other Transaction Document.

(b) Purchaser and the Company shall execute and deliver such additional documents, certificates and instruments, and perform such additional acts, as may be reasonably requested and necessary or appropriate to carry out and effectuate all of the provisions of this Agreement and any other Transaction Document and to consummate all of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and any other Transaction Document.

(c) Purchaser and the Company shall cooperate and provide assistance as reasonably requested by the other party in connection with any Third Party litigation, arbitration or other Third Party proceeding (whether threatened, existing, initiated, or contemplated prior to, on or after the date hereof) to which any party hereto or any of its officers, directors, shareholders, agents or employees is or may become a party or is or may become otherwise directly or

- 26 -

indirectly affected or as to which any such Persons have a direct or indirect interests, in each case relating to this Agreement, any other Transaction Document, the Assigned Interests or any other Assigned Interests Collateral, or the transactions described herein or therein.

| Section 5.07 | Change of Control; Put Option.

(a) Change of Control. In the event that a Change of Control shall occur during the Revenue Interest Period, the Company shall repurchase the Assigned Interests from Purchaser for a repurchase price equal to the Change of Control Payment on or prior to the third Business Day after the occurrence of a Change of Control. The Change of Control Payment shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by Purchaser.

(b) Put Option. In the event that a Put Option Event shall occur during the Term, Purchaser shall have the right, but not the obligation (the “Put Option”) to require the Company to repurchase from Purchaser the Assigned Interests at the Put Price. In the event Purchaser elects to exercise its Put Option, Purchaser shall deliver written notice to the Company specifying the closing date which date shall be forty-five (45) days from such notice date (the “Put Option Closing Date”), which notice must be given within sixty (60) days of Purchaser’s receipt of written notice from the Company of a Put Option Event. Failure to provide notice by such times will be deemed an irrevocable waiver of the right to exercise the Put Option. On the Put Option Closing Date, the Company shall repurchase from Purchaser the Assigned Interests at the Put Price in cash, the payment of which shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by Purchaser. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, immediately upon the occurrence of a Bankruptcy Event, Purchaser shall be deemed to have automatically and simultaneously elected to have the Company repurchase from Purchaser the Assigned Interests for the Put Price in cash and the Put Price shall be immediately due and payable without any further action or notice by any party.

(c) Call Option. At any time after the fourth anniversary following the Closing Date, the Company shall have the right (the “Call Option”), exercisable upon ten (10) days’ written notice to Purchaser, to repurchase the Assigned Interests from Purchaser at a repurchase price equal to the Change of Control Payment. In order to exercise the Call Option, the Company shall deliver written notice to Purchaser of its election to so repurchase the Assigned Interests not less than ten (10) days prior to the proposed closing date (the “Call Closing Date”). On the Call Closing Date, the Company shall repurchase from Purchaser the Assigned Interests at the Change of Control Payment, the payment of which shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account designated by Purchaser.

(d) Obligations of Purchaser. In connection with the consummation of a repurchase of the Assigned Interests pursuant to the Change of Control Payment or the Put Option, Purchaser agrees that it will (i) promptly but no later than three (3) Business Days execute and deliver to the Company such UCC termination statements and other documents as may be necessary to release Purchaser’s Lien on the Assigned Interests Collateral and otherwise give effect to such repurchase and (ii) take such other actions or provide such other assistance as may be necessary to give effect to such repurchase.

- 27 -

| Section 5.08 | Remittance to Deposit Account.

(a) On the Closing Date, the parties hereto shall enter into a Deposit Agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the parties hereto and the Deposit Bank, which Deposit Agreement will provide for, among other things, the establishment and maintenance of a Deposit Account and Joint Concentration Account in accordance with the terms herein and therein. Funds deposited into the Deposit Account shall be swept by the Deposit Bank on a daily basis into the Joint Concentration Account. The parties understand and agree that the current Deposit Bank cannot accommodate multiple Deposit Accounts; and accordingly, so long as the Company has not established a separate Company Concentration Account and Purchaser Concentration Account as required pursuant to Section 5.08(b), the Company shall be responsible for computing the Daily Amount and shall retain at all times (subject to any payments of the Daily Amount paid to Purchaser, which payments shall be made promptly upon Purchaser’s request) an amount equal to the aggregate Daily Amount owed to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision herein or in any other Transaction Document to the contrary, the Company shall no later than one hundred twenty (120) days after the Closing Date to enter into a new Deposit Agreement (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser) with a bank or financial institution approved by Purchaser, which bank or financial institution shall thereafter serve as the Deposit Bank pursuant to the terms hereof. Upon engagement of the replacement Deposit Bank and the entering into the new Deposit Agreement in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, such Deposit Agreement shall provide for, among other things, the establishment and maintenance of a Deposit Account, a Joint Concentration Account, a Company Concentration Account and a Purchaser Concentration Account in accordance with the terms herein and therein. Any Purchaser Concentration Account shall be held solely for the benefit of Purchaser, but shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the other Transaction Documents. Funds deposited into the Deposit Account shall be swept by the Deposit Bank on a daily basis into the Joint Concentration Account and subsequent thereto, the Daily Amount shall be swept into the Purchaser Concentration Account. Purchaser shall have immediate and full access to any funds held in the Purchaser Concentration Account and such funds shall not be subject to any conditions or restrictions whatsoever. After the Daily Amount is swept into the Purchaser Concentration Account, the amounts remaining in the Joint Concentration Account shall then be swept, at the direction of the Company, into the Company Concentration Account. The Company shall have immediate and full access to any funds held in the Company Concentration Account and such funds shall not be subject to any conditions or restrictions whatsoever other than those of the Deposit Bank; provided, however, that nothing herein shall (i) affect or reduce the Company’s obligations to pay in full all amounts due to Purchaser under this Agreement, or (ii) in any manner limit the recourse of Purchaser to the Assigned Interests Collateral to satisfy the Company’s Obligations.

(c) The Company shall pay all fees, expenses and charges of the Deposit Bank (including the replacement Deposit Bank contemplated by Section 5.08(b)).

(d) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to amend each License Agreement, within thirty (30) Business Days after the engagement of the replacement Deposit Bank contemplated by Section 5.08(b), to contain a provision providing for all payments in

- 28 -

respect of sales of the Product and in respect of royalties received from Licensees to be remitted directly by the applicable party into the Deposit Account and the Company shall cause such payments to be remitted directly by the applicable party into the Deposit Account. If the Company is unsuccessful in amending the License Agreements in accordance with the foregoing sentence and at all times prior to the engagement of the replacement Deposit Bank as contemplated by Section 5.08(b), the Company shall instruct each Licensee to such License Agreement to remit to the Deposit Account when due all applicable payments in respect of sales and licensing revenue in respect of the Product and in respect of royalties received from such Licensees. Without in any way limiting the foregoing, commencing on the Closing Date and thereafter, any and all payments in respect of sales of the Product received by the Company shall be deposited into the Deposit Account within two (2) Business Days of the Company’s receipt thereof.

(e) With respect to any License Agreement (excluding License Agreement that do not call for direct payment to the Company) entered into by the Company from and after the engagement of the replacement Deposit Bank contemplated by Section 5.08(b), the Company shall (i) at the time of the execution and delivery of such agreement, instruct any party thereto under such agreement to remit to the Deposit Account when due all applicable payments in respect of sales and licensing revenue in respect of the Product and in respect of royalties received from Licensees that are due and payable to the Company in respect of or derived from such agreement during the Revenue Interest Period and (ii) deliver to Purchaser evidence of such instruction and of such applicable party’s agreement thereto. Without in any way limiting the foregoing, commencing on the Closing Date and thereafter, any and all payments in respect of sales of the Product received by the Company shall be deposited into the Deposit Account within two (2) Business Days of the Company’s receipt thereof.

(f) Prior to the termination of this Agreement, the Company shall not have any right to terminate the Deposit Bank without Purchaser’s prior written consent. Any such consent, which Purchaser may grant or withhold in its sole and absolute discretion, shall be subject to the satisfaction of each of the following conditions to the satisfaction of Purchaser:

(i) the successor Deposit Bank shall be acceptable to Purchaser;

(ii) Purchaser, the Company and the successor Deposit Bank shall have entered into a deposit agreement substantially in the form of the Deposit Agreement initially entered into;

(iii) all funds and items in the accounts subject to the Deposit Agreement to be terminated shall be transferred to the new accounts held at the successor Deposit Bank prior to the termination of the then existing Deposit Bank; and

(iv) Purchaser shall have received evidence that all of the applicable parties making payments in respect of sales of the Product have been instructed to remit all future payments in respect of sales of the Product to the new accounts held at the successor Deposit Bank.

- 29 -

(g) True-Up.

(i) Following the end of each Fiscal Quarter, as soon as the Company shall have determined the Net Revenues for such Fiscal Quarter and for each other Fiscal Quarter in the Fiscal Year in which the then most recently ended Fiscal Quarter occurred (the “Year-to-Date Net Revenues”) and in any event no later than forty-five (45) days after the end of such Fiscal Quarter (unless such Fiscal Quarter is the last Fiscal Quarter of a Fiscal Year in which case no later than ninety (90) days after the end of such Fiscal Quarter), the Company shall present Purchaser a certificate, in reasonable detail with supporting calculations and information, detailing the Year-to-Date Net Revenues (the “True-Up Statement”). The True-Up Statement shall include a calculation of (A) the year-to-date Assigned Interests as of the end of such quarterly period, which shall be the product of the Applicable Percentage multiplied by the Year-to-Date Net Revenues, with a separate calculation taking into account any mandatory minimum payments as provided in the definition of Assigned Interests (“Year-to-Date Assigned Interests”) and (B) the difference between (X) the amount Purchaser has received on or prior to the last day of the most recently ended Fiscal Quarter in payments from the Company under Section 2.02(a) or this Section 5.08 in respect of the Fiscal Year for which Year-to-Date Net Revenues is calculated less (Y) the Year-to-Date Assigned Interests (the “True-Up Amount”).

(ii) If the True-Up Amount calculated pursuant to clause (i) above is positive, Purchaser shall pay such amount to the Company within five (5) days of receipt by Purchaser of the True-Up Statement.

(iii) If the True-Up Amount calculated pursuant to clause (i) above is negative, the Company shall pay the absolute value of such amount to Purchaser within five (5) days of the receipt by Purchaser of the True-Up Statement.

| Section 5.09 | Intellectual Property.

(a) The Company shall, at its sole expense, either directly or by causing any Licensee to do so, take any and all actions (including taking legal action to specifically enforce the applicable terms of any License Agreement), and prepare, execute, deliver and file any and all agreements, documents or instruments which are necessary to diligently maintain the Material Patents. The Company shall ensure that all patent applications corresponding to the Material Patents are diligently prosecuted with the intent to protect the Product. In the exercise of its reasonable business discretion, the Company shall diligently defend or assert such Intellectual Property and such Patents against infringement or interference by any other Persons, and against any claims of invalidity or unenforceability, in any jurisdiction (including, without limitation, by bringing any legal action for infringement or defending any counterclaim of invalidity or action of a Third Party for declaratory judgment of non-infringement or non-interference). The Company shall not, and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause any Licensee not to, disclaim or abandon, or fail to take any action necessary or desirable to prevent the disclaimer or abandonment of, the Material Patents.

(b) In the event that the Company becomes aware that any intellectual property licensed by it to a Licensee under any License Agreement infringes or violates any Third Party intellectual property, the Company shall, in the exercise of its reasonable business discretion, use commercially reasonable efforts to attempt to secure the right to use such intellectual property on behalf of itself and the affected Licensee and shall pay all costs and amounts associated with obtaining any such license, without any reduction in the Assigned Interests.

- 30 -

(c) The Company shall directly, or through a Licensee, take any and all actions and prepare, execute, deliver and file any and all agreements, documents or instruments that are necessary or commercially reasonable or desirable to secure and maintain, all Regulatory Approvals in the United States.

(d) The Company shall notify PDL regarding any material developments with the Material Patents, including new filings, allowance and issuance, abandonment, or the initiation of any interference, reexamination, reissue, post-grant review proceeding and litigation, and shall provide PDL with an updated patent schedule upon request, but at least once per year.

| Section 5.10 | Protective Covenants.

(a) The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Purchaser:

(i) Forgive, release or compromise any amount owed to the Company or its Subsidiary and relating to the Assigned Interests outside the ordinary course of business;

(ii) Waive, amend, cancel or terminate, exercise or fail to exercise, any of its material rights constituting or relating to the Revenue Interests (including any rights under any License Agreement) outside the ordinary course of business;

(iii) Amend, modify, restate, cancel, supplement, terminate or waive any material provision of any Material Contract, or grant any consent thereunder, or agree to do any of the foregoing, including, without limitation, entering into any agreement with any Person under the provisions of such Material Contract;

(iv) Enter into any agreement that would be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(v) Create, incur, assume or suffer any interference with the direction of payments set for in Section 5.08; or

(vi) Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien, or exercise any right of rescission, offset, counterclaim or defense, upon or with respect to the Assigned Interests, the Revenue Interests or the other Assigned Interests Collateral, or agree to do or suffer to exist any of the foregoing, except for any Lien or agreements in favor of Purchaser granted under or pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.

(b) During the Term, the Company agrees that, within five (5) Business Days of any Person becoming a direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company, the Company shall cause such Subsidiary to deliver to Purchaser an Assumption Agreement (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) executed by such Subsidiary, pursuant to which such Subsidiary shall become a guarantor of the obligations hereunder and grant a security interest in the Assigned Interests Collateral.

| Section 5.11 | Insurance.

The Company shall (i) maintain the current insurance policies with its current insurance companies or with companies having at the least the same rating from A.M. Best Company, Inc.,

- 31 -

including product liability insurance and directors and officers insurance and insurance against litigation, liability, subject only to such exclusions and deductible items as are usual and customary in insurance policies of such type, and (ii) maintain Purchaser as an additional insured party with respect to its general liability and product liability insurance policies. From time to time (with reasonable frequency) the Company will revise its insurance policy so as to maintain coverage in amounts customary for companies of comparable size and condition similarly situated in the same industry as the Company.

| Section 5.12 | Notice.

The Company shall provide Purchaser with written notice as promptly as practicable (and in any event within two (2) Business Days) after becoming aware of any of the following:

(a) any material breach or default by the Company of any covenant, agreement or other provision of this Agreement, or any other Transaction Document;

(b) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by the Company in any of the Transaction Documents or in any certificate delivered to Purchaser pursuant hereto shall prove to be untrue, inaccurate or incomplete in any material respect on the date as of which made or deemed made;

(c) the occurrence of a Change of Control; or

(d) the occurrence of a Put Option Event.

| Section 5.13 | Use of Proceeds.

The Company shall use proceeds received from Purchaser in support of the business plan for the Product, including sales operation and expansion and additional clinical studies. The Company shall take commercially reasonable measures to support the sales of the Product.

| Section 5.14 | Taxes.

(a) The Company shall timely file (taking into account all extensions of due dates) all Tax Returns required to be filed by it and will pay all Taxes required to be paid with such returns.

(b) Each payment made by the Company pursuant to the Transaction Documents shall be payable free of any Tax, withholding or other deduction except for any Tax, withholding or deduction imposed by applicable law. The Company and Purchaser agree that to each of their knowledge such payments are not subject to any deduction or withholding under current applicable law.

| Section 5.15 | Board Designee.

Effective immediately after the Closing, Purchaser shall have the right to designate, and the Company shall appoint an individual designated by the Purchaser (the “Purchaser Designee”), who shall serve on the Board until the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “2013 Annual Meeting”). For the 2013 Annual Meeting and each annual meeting thereafter

- 32 -

during the Term, the Board shall nominate and recommend the Purchaser Designee as a director nominee to serve on the Board until the next annual meeting and shall include such nomination in the Company’s proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting and each annual meeting thereafter, provided that the election of the Purchaser Designee is subject to shareholders’ approval. Should at any time there become a vacancy on the Board as a result of (1) the resignation, death or removal of the Purchaser Designee or (2) such Purchaser Designee failing to obtain the requisite approval of the Company’s shareholders at any annual or special meeting of the Company’s shareholders and where no other individual is elected to such vacancy, Purchaser shall have the right to designate an individual to fill such vacancy, and the Company shall take such actions necessary to appoint, such individual to the Board. The Company shall have taken all actions necessary at or prior to the Closing to ensure there is a vacancy on the Board as of the Closing to permit the appointment of the Purchaser Designee to the Board as of the Closing.

| Section 5.16 | Rights to Future Stock Issuances.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 5.16 and applicable securities laws, if the Company proposes to offer or sell any New Securities, the Company shall first offer such New Securities to the Purchaser. The Purchaser shall be entitled to apportion the right of first offer hereby granted to it among itself and its Affiliates in such proportions as it deems appropriate.

(a) The Company shall give notice (the “Offer Notice”) to the Purchaser, stating (i) its bona fide intention to offer such New Securities, (ii) the number of such New Securities to be offered, and (iii) the price and terms, if any, upon which it proposes to offer such New Securities.

(b) By notification to the Company within five (5) days after the Offer Notice is given, the Purchaser may elect to purchase or otherwise acquire, at the price and on the terms specified in the Offer Notice, up to *** of such New Securities. The closing of any sale pursuant to this Section 5.16(b) shall occur within the later of one hundred and twenty (120) days of the date that the Offer Notice is given and the date of initial sale of New Securities pursuant to Section 5.16(c).

(c) If all New Securities referred to in the Offer Notice are not elected to be purchased or acquired as provided in Section 5.16(b), the Company may, during the ninety (90) day period following the expiration of the periods provided in Section 5.16(b), offer and sell such New Securities (including any portion of New Securities Purchaser declined to acquire pursuant to Section 5.16(b)) to any Person or Persons at a price not less than, and upon terms no more favorable to the offeree than, those specified in the Offer Notice. If the Company does not enter into an agreement for the sale of the New Securities within such period, or if such agreement is not consummated within thirty (30) days of the execution thereof, the right provided hereunder shall be deemed to be revived and such New Securities shall not be offered unless first reoffered to the Purchaser in accordance with this Section 5.16.

(d) The right of first offer in this Section 5.16 shall not be applicable to (i) issuance of options under the Company’s equity compensation plans, where such plans have been approved by the Company’s shareholders; and (ii) issuance of equity securities to one or more counterparties in connection with the consummation, by the Company, of a strategic partnership,

- 33 -

joint venture, collaboration or acquisition or license of any business products or technology (it being understood and agreed that the primary purpose of any issuance pursuant to this clause (ii) shall not be to raise capital).

(e) The Purchaser shall agree to treat the Offer Notice as confidential, and it shall not trade any securities of the Company while the terms of the Offer Notice remain as material, non-public information.

| Section 5.17 | Dividends.

During the period from the Closing Date to sixty (60) days after the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date (or the payment of the Put Price in the event the Put Option is exercised on or prior to 60 days after the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date), the Company shall not, nor shall it permit any Subsidiary to, declare, pay or make any dividend or distribution on any shares of the common stock or preferred stock of such Person (other than dividends or distributions payable in its stock, or split-ups or reclassifications of its stock) or apply any of its funds, property or assets to the purchase, redemption or other retirement of any common or preferred stock, or of any options to purchase or acquire any such shares of common or preferred stock of any such Person (collectively, “Restricted Payments”), except that: (a) each Subsidiary may make direct or indirect Restricted Payments to the Company; and (b) the Company and each Subsidiary may purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire Equity Interests issued by it solely with the proceeds received from the substantially concurrent issue of new shares of its common stock or other common Equity Interests. For purposes of this Agreement, “Equity Interests” of any Person means any and all shares, rights to purchase, options, warrants, general, limited or limited liability partnership interests, member interests, participation or other equivalents of or interest in (regardless of how designated) equity of such Person, whether voting or nonvoting, including common stock, preferred stock, convertible securities or any other “equity security” (as such term is defined in Rule 3a11-1 of the General Rules and Regulations promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).

ARTICLE VI

TERMINATION

| Section 6.01 | Termination Date.

This Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier of expiration or termination of the Revenue Interest Period, in each case after full satisfaction of any amounts due under this Agreement by Company to the Purchaser (the “Term”).

| Section 6.02 | Effect of Termination.

In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.01, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect without any liability on the part of any party hereto or its Affiliates, directors, officers, stockholders, partners, managers or members other than the provisions of this Section 6.02 and Sections 5.04, and Article VII hereof, which shall survive any termination as set forth in Section 6.01. Nothing contained in this Section 6.02 shall relieve any party from liability for any breach of this Agreement.

- 34 -

ARTICLE VII

MISCELLANEOUS

| Section 7.01 | Survival.

(a) All representations and warranties made herein and in any other Transaction Document, any certificates or in any other writing delivered pursuant hereto or thereto shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and shall continue to survive until the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article VI.

(b) Any investigation or other examination that may have been made or may be made at any time by or on behalf of the party to whom representations and warranties are made shall not limit, diminish or in any way affect the representations and warranties in the Transaction Documents, and the parties may rely on the representations and warranties in the Transaction Documents irrespective of any information obtained by them by any investigation, examination or otherwise.

| Section 7.02 | Specific Performance; Limitations on Damages.

(a) Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that the other party will have no adequate remedy at law if it fails to perform any of its obligations under any of the Transaction Documents. In such event, each of the parties agrees that the other party shall have the right, in addition to any other rights it may have (whether at law or in equity), to specific performance of this Agreement.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall either party be liable for special, indirect, incidental, punitive or consequential damages of the other party, whether or not caused by or resulting from the actions of such party or the breach of its covenants, agreements, representations or warranties hereunder, even if such party has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

| Section 7.03 | Notices.

All notices, consents, waivers and communications hereunder given by any party to the other shall be in writing (including facsimile transmission) and delivered personally, by telegraph, telecopy, telex or facsimile, by a recognized overnight courier, or by dispatching the same by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with postage prepaid, in each case addressed:

If to Purchaser to:

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

932 Southwood Blvd.

Attention: General Counsel

Facsimile No.: (775) 832-8501

- 35 -

with a copy to:

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP

333 South Grand Avenue

Los Angeles, CA 90071-3197

Attention: Dhiya El-Saden

Facsimile No.: (213) 229-7520

If to the Company to:

AxoGen, Inc.

AxoGen Corporation

13859 Progress Blvd.

Alachua, FL 32615

Attention: Karen Zaderej

Fax: (386) 462-6803

with a copy to:

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP

1701 Market Street

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103

Attention: Fahd M.T. Riaz

Fax: (215) 963-5001

or to such other address or addresses as Purchaser or the Company may from time to time designate by notice as provided herein, except that notices of changes of address shall be effective only upon receipt. All such notices, consents, waivers and communications shall: (a) when posted by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, be effective three (3) Business Days after dispatch, unless such communication is sent trans-Atlantic, in which case they shall be deemed effective five (5) Business Days after dispatch, (b) when telegraphed, telecopied, telexed or facsimiled, be effective upon receipt by the transmitting party of confirmation of complete transmission, or (c) when delivered by a recognized overnight courier or in person, be effective upon receipt when hand delivered.

| Section 7.04 | Successors and Assigns.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. The Company shall not be entitled to assign any of its obligations and rights under the Transaction Documents without the prior written consent of Purchaser. Solely upon the consent of the Company (which consent may not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), Purchaser may assign any of its obligations or rights under the Transaction Documents without restriction; provided, however, that Purchaser, notwithstanding such assignment, will remain liable under Section 5.08(g) (to the extent of any amount subject thereto during the Fiscal Quarter as of the date of such assignment) and Section 7.05.

- 36 -

| Section 7.05 | Indemnification.

(a) The Company hereby indemnifies and holds Purchaser and its Affiliates and any of their respective partners, directors, managers, members, officers, employees and agents (each, a “Purchaser Indemnified Party”) harmless from and against any and all Losses (including all Losses in connection with any product liability claims or claims of infringement or misappropriation of any Intellectual Property rights of any Third Parties) incurred or suffered by any Purchaser Indemnified Party arising out of any breach of any representation, warranty or certification made by the Company in any of the Transaction Documents or certificates given by the Company in writing pursuant hereto or thereto or any breach of or default under any covenant or agreement by the Company pursuant to any Transaction Document, including any failure by the Company to satisfy any of the Excluded Liabilities and Obligations.

(b) Purchaser hereby indemnifies and holds the Company, its Affiliates and any of their respective partners, directors, managers, officers, employees and agents (each, a “Company Indemnified Party”) harmless from and against any and all Losses incurred or suffered by a Company Indemnified Party arising out of any breach of any representation, warranty or certification made by Purchaser in any of the Transaction Documents or certificates given by Purchaser in writing pursuant hereto or thereto or any breach of or default under any covenant or agreement by Purchaser pursuant to any Transaction Document.

(c) If any claim, demand, action or proceeding (including any investigation by any Governmental Authority) shall be brought or alleged against an indemnified party in respect of which indemnity is to be sought against an indemnifying party pursuant to the preceding paragraphs, the indemnified party shall, promptly after receipt of notice of the commencement of any such claim, demand, action or proceeding, notify the indemnifying party in writing of the commencement of such claim, demand, action or proceeding, enclosing a copy of all papers served, if any; provided, that the omission to so notify such indemnifying party will not relieve the indemnifying party from any liability that it may have to any indemnified party under the foregoing provisions of this Section 7.05 unless, and only to the extent that, such omission results in the forfeiture of, or has a material adverse effect on the exercise or prosecution of, substantive rights or defenses by the indemnifying party. In case any such action is brought against an indemnified party and it notifies the indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, the indemnifying party will be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it may wish, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified party (who shall not, except with the consent of the indemnified party, be counsel to the indemnifying party), and after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the indemnifying party will not be liable to such indemnified party under this Section 7.05 for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by such indemnified party in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation. In any such proceeding, an indemnified party shall have the right to retain its own counsel, but the reasonable fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such indemnified party unless (i) the indemnifying party and the indemnified party shall have mutually agreed to the retention of such counsel, (ii) the indemnifying party has assumed the defense of such proceeding and has failed within a reasonable time to retain counsel reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified party or (iii) the named parties to any such proceeding (including any impleaded parties) include both the indemnifying party and the indemnified party and representation of both parties by the same counsel would be inappropriate due to actual or potential conflicts of interests between them based on the advice of such counsel. It is agreed that the indemnifying party shall not, in

- 37 -

connection with any proceeding or related proceedings in the same jurisdiction, be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of more than one separate law firm (in addition to local counsel where necessary) for all such indemnified parties. The indemnifying party shall not be liable for any settlement of any proceeding effected without its written consent, but if settled with such consent or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff, the indemnifying party agrees to indemnify the indemnified party from and against any loss or liability by reason of such settlement or judgment. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified party, effect any settlement of any pending or threatened proceeding in respect of which any indemnified party is or could have been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such indemnified party, unless such settlement includes an unconditional release of such indemnified party from all liability on claims that are the subject matter of such proceeding.

(d) To the extent that any breach by the Company of this Agreement does not trigger a Put Option Event, Purchaser’s sole remedy shall be to recover any monetary damages associated with such breach, subject to the other terms and provisions contained in this Agreement.

| Section 7.06 | No Implied Representations and Warranties.

Each party acknowledges and agrees that, other than the representations and warranties specifically contained in any of the Transaction Documents or certificates given in writing by a party hereto or thereto, there are no representations or warranties of either party or any other Person either expressed or implied with respect to the Assigned Interests or the transactions contemplated hereby. Without limiting the foregoing, Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that (a) Purchaser and its Affiliates, together with its and its Affiliates’ representatives, have made their own investigation of the Product and the Intellectual Property and are not relying on any implied warranties or upon any representation or warranty whatsoever as to the future amount or potential amount of the Assigned Interests or as to the creditworthiness of Company and (b) except as expressly set forth in any representation or warranty in a Transaction Document, Purchaser shall have no claim or right to indemnification pursuant to Section 7.05 (or otherwise) with respect to any information, documents or materials furnished to Purchaser, any of its Affiliates, or any of its or its Affiliates’ representatives, including any information, documents or material made available to Purchaser and its Affiliates and its Affiliates’ representatives in any data room, presentation, interview or any other form relating to the transactions contemplated hereby.

| Section 7.07 | Independent Nature of Relationship.

(a) The relationship between the Company and its Subsidiary, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other, is solely that of seller and purchaser, and neither Purchaser, on the one hand, nor the Company and its Subsidiary, on the other, has any fiduciary or other special relationship with the other or any of their respective Affiliates. Nothing contained herein or in any other Transaction Document shall be deemed to constitute the Company and its Subsidiary and Purchaser as a partnership, an association, a joint venture or other kind of entity or legal form.

(b) No officer or employee of Purchaser will be located at the premises of the Company or any of its Affiliates, except in connection with an audit performed pursuant to

- 38 -

Section 5.02. No officer, manager or employee of Purchaser shall engage in any commercial activity with the Company or any of its Affiliates other than as contemplated herein and in the other Transaction Documents.

(c) The Company and/or any of its Affiliates shall not at any time obligate Purchaser, or impose on Purchaser any obligation, in any manner or respect to any Person not a party hereto.

| Section 7.08 | Federal Tax.

Notwithstanding the accounting treatment thereof, for United States federal, state and local tax purposes, the Company and Purchaser shall treat the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents as debt for United States tax purposes. The parties hereto agree not to take any position that is inconsistent with the provision of this Section 7.08 on any tax return or in any audit or other administrative or judicial proceeding unless (a) the other party to this Agreement has consented to such actions, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, or (b) the party that contemplates taking such an inconsistent position has been advised by its tax advisor in writing that it is more likely than not (i) that there is no “reasonable basis” (within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6662-3(b)(3)) for the position specified in this Section 7.08 or (ii) that taking such a position would otherwise subject the party to penalties under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

| Section 7.09 | Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, together with the Exhibits and Schedules hereto (which are incorporated herein by reference), and the other Transaction Documents constitute the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements (including the Term Sheet and the Interim Revenue Interest Purchase Agreement), understandings and negotiations, both written and oral, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. No representation, inducement, promise, understanding, condition or warranty not set forth herein (or in the Exhibits, Schedules or other Transaction Documents) has been made or relied upon by either party hereto. None of this Agreement, nor any provision hereof, is intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.

| Section 7.10 | Amendments; No Waivers.

(a) This Agreement or any term or provision hereof may not be amended, changed or modified except with the written consent of the parties hereto. No waiver of any right hereunder shall be effective unless such waiver is signed in writing by the party against whom such waiver is sought to be enforced.

(b) No failure or delay by either party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

- 39 -

| Section 7.11 | Interpretation.

When a reference is made in this Agreement to Articles, Sections, Schedules or Exhibits, such reference shall be to an Article, Section, Schedule or Exhibit to this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The words “include”, “includes” and “including” when used herein shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words “without limitation”. Neither party hereto shall be or be deemed to be the drafter of this Agreement for the purposes of construing this Agreement against one party or the other.

| Section 7.12 | Headings and Captions.

The headings and captions in this Agreement are for convenience and reference purposes only and shall not be considered a part of or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

| Section 7.13 | Counterparts; Effectiveness.

This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become effective when each party hereto shall have received a counterpart hereof signed by the other parties hereto. Any counterpart may be executed by facsimile or pdf signature and such facsimile or pdf signature shall be deemed an original.

| Section 7.14 | Severability.

If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless be given full force and effect.

| Section 7.15 | Expenses.

The Company will pay all of its own fees and expenses in connection with entering into and consummating the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Company shall, promptly (and, in any event, within five (5) Business Days) upon demand, reimburse Purchaser up to *** for its reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, less any amounts reimbursed in connection with the Interim Royalty Purchase Agreement, not to exceed *** in the aggregate.

| Section 7.16 | Governing Law; Jurisdiction.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the state of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law thereof.

(b) Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document may be brought in any state or federal court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Nevada, Washoe County and city of Reno. By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each party hereto hereby irrevocably consents to and accepts, for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally the non-exclusive jurisdiction of such courts. Each party hereto hereby further irrevocably waives any objection, including any objection to the laying of venue or based on the grounds of forum non conveniens, which it may now or hereafter have to the bringing of any action or proceeding in such jurisdiction in respect of any Transaction Document.

- 40 -

(c) Each party hereto hereby irrevocably consents to the service of process out of any of the courts referred to in subsection (b) of this Section 7.16 in any such suit, action or proceeding by the mailing of copies thereof by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to it at its address set forth in this Agreement. Each party hereto hereby irrevocably waives any objection to such service of process and further irrevocably waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any suit, action or proceeding commenced hereunder or under any other Transaction Document that service of process was in any way invalid or ineffective. Nothing herein shall affect the right of a party to serve process on the other party in any other manner permitted by law.

| Section 7.17 | Waiver of Jury Trial.

Each party hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all right to trial by jury in any action, proceeding, claim or counterclaim arising out of or relating to any Transaction Document or the transactions contemplated under any Transaction Document. This waiver shall apply to any subsequent amendments, renewals, supplements or modifications to any Transaction Document.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

- 41 -

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the date first above written.

COMPANY: |  | AXOGEN, INC.
|  | By: |  | /s/ Karen Zaderej
|  |  |  | Name: |  | Karen Zaderej
|  |  |  | Title: |  | Chief Executive Officer
PURCHASER: |  | PDL BIOPHARMA, INC.
|  | By: |  | /s/ John P. McLaughlin
|  |  |  | Name: |  | John P. McLaughlin
|  |  |  | Title: |  | President and Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Revenue Purchase Agreement]

Exhibit A

Form of Guarantee and Collateral Agreement

[A copy of the execution version of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement has been filed as Exhibit 10.6.2 to this Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form S-1.]

Exhibit B

Form of Assignment of Interests

[See attached.]

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT OF INTERESTS

THIS ASSIGNMENT OF INTERESTS (“Assignment of Interests”) is made as of August 13, 2012, between AxoGen, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Company”), and PDL BioPharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Purchaser”).

A. The Company and Purchaser have entered into that certain Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2012 (the “Revenue Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company is to sell and Purchaser is to purchase the Assigned Interests. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Revenue Purchase Agreement; and

B. The Company has agreed to execute and deliver this Assignment of Interests to Purchaser for the purpose of transferring to and vesting in Purchaser title to the Assigned Interests as set forth herein.

In consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. The Company does hereby sell, assign, transfer, convey, deliver and vest in Purchaser, its successors and assigns forever, all of its right, title and interest in and to the Assigned Interests.

2. The Company hereby covenants that, from time to time after the delivery of this instrument, at Purchaser’s request, the Company will do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or will cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered such further acts, conveyances, transfers, assignments, powers of attorney and assurances as Purchaser may reasonably require to convey, transfer to and vest in Purchaser, and to put Purchaser in possession of, any of the Assigned Interests.

3. Nothing in this Assignment of Interests shall alter any liability or obligation of the Company or Purchaser arising under the Revenue Purchase Agreement, which shall govern the representations, warranties and obligations of the parties with respect to the Assigned Interests.

4. This Assignment of Interests shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

5. This Assignment of Interests shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law thereof.

6. This Assignment of Interests may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Assignment of Interests as of the date first written above.

AXOGEN, INC.
By: |  |
|  | Name: |  | Karen Zaderej
|  | Title: |  | Chief Executive Officer
PDL BIOPHARMA, INC.
By: |  |
|  | Name: |  | John P. McLaughlin
|  | Title: |  | President and Chief Executive Officer

ASSIGNMENT OF INTERESTS – INTERIM REVENUE INTERESTS PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Exhibit C

Form of Deposit Agreement

[See attached.]

Form of Deposit Agreement

Account Numbers: |  |  |  |

DEPOSIT ACCOUNT CONTROL AGREEMENT

Customer: |  |  |  |
Creditor: |  |  |  |
Date: |  |  |  |

This Deposit Account Control Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into as of the above date among Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”), Creditor identified above (“Creditor”), and Customer identified above (“Customer”).

All parties agree as follows:

1. Deposit Account. Bank maintains one or more demand, time, savings, passbook, certificates of deposit or other similar accounts that are identified above in which Customer has an interest (collectively, the “Account”). The Deposit Account (as defined below) is subject to Bank’s Deposit Agreement and Disclosure Statement (the “Deposit Agreement”), provided that, in the case of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the Deposit Agreement, the terms of this Agreement will prevail. The parties acknowledge that the Deposit Account constitutes a “deposit account” within the meaning of Section 9102 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of California (the “UCC”), and Bank is a “bank” within the meaning of Section 9102 of the UCC. Bank’s jurisdiction for purposes of Section 9304 of the UCC is California. The provisions of this Agreement constitute “control” over the Deposit Account within the meaning of Section 9104 of the UCC.

2. Security Interests. Pursuant to a security agreement or similar agreement, Customer has granted to Creditor a security interest in the Account and in all cash, funds, items, instruments, and any other amounts now or later deposited into or held therein (collectively, the “Deposit Account”). Bank acknowledges the lien on and security interest in the Deposit Account granted by Customer to Creditor.

[For Bank use only - Bank representative to check box, if necessary, and insert initials.]

(a) ¨ Other than as set forth in Section 6 below, Bank does not have a security interest in the Deposit Account. [DLM initials]

(b) ¨ Bank has a security interest in the Deposit Account. [DLM initials]

If the box is Section 2(b) above is checked, the priorities of Creditor’s security interest and Bank’s security interest in the Deposit Account are governed by an intercreditor or other similar agreement between Bank and Creditor.

3. Other Deposit Control Agreements.

[For Bank use only - Bank representative to check appropriate box below and insert initials.]

(a) ¨ Bank has not entered into any other control agreement governing the Deposit Account with any other party. [DLM initials]

(b) ¨ Bank has entered into other control agreement(s) governing the Deposit Account with the following party or parties:

[DLM initials]

Bank agrees that it will not enter into a control agreement with any other party with respect to the Deposit Account without Creditor’s prior written consent.

4. Customer’s Rights in Deposit Account. Creditor has control over the Deposit Account, provided that, until Bank receives a Notice of Exclusive Control (as described and set forth in Section 13(b) below). Customer will be entitled to draw items on and to withdraw or otherwise direct the disposition of funds from the Deposit Account. So long as this Agreement is in effect. Customer may not close the Deposit Account without Creditor’s prior written consent. Bank may close the Deposit Account in accordance with the Deposit Agreement and as may be required by applicable law. After Bank receives a Notice of Exclusive Control, Bank will notify Creditor not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to closing the Deposit Account in non-emergency circumstances and substantially contemporaneously with closing the Deposit Account in emergency circumstances (for example, in response to fraud or returned items), unless prohibited by law. Customer will notify Creditor promptly if Bank closes the Deposit Account.

5. Creditor’s Control of Deposit Account. Except as permitted in Section 6 hereof, after Bank receives a Notice of Exclusive Control and has reasonable opportunity to comply with it, but no later than two Business Days (as defined below) after the Notice of Exclusive Control has been validly given (in accordance with Section 13(b) below). Bank and Customer agree that: (a) Bank will comply only with Creditor’s instructions as to the withdrawal or disposition of any funds credited to the Deposit Account and to any other matters relating to the Deposit Account, without Customer’s further consent, and (b) Bank will not comply with any instructions from Customer concerning the Deposit Account or any funds therein. Bank shall have no duty to inquire or

determine whether Creditor is entitled to send a Notice of Exclusive Control. Creditor’s instructions may include the giving of stop payment orders for any items being presented to the Deposit Account for payment. Bank will be fully entitled to rely upon such instructions from Creditor even if such instructions are contrary to any instructions or demands given by Customer. Customer confirms that Bank (x) should follow instructions from Creditor even if the result of following such instructions is that Bank dishonors items presented for payment from the Deposit Account, and (y) will have no liability to Customer for wrongful dishonor of such items in following such instructions from Creditor. For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” means a day on which Bank is open to the public for business and is measured in a 24 hour increment.

6. Priorities of Security Interests; Rights Reserved by Bank.

(a) Creditor agrees that nothing herein subordinates or waives, and that Bank expressly reserves, any and/or all of Bank’s present and future rights (whether described as rights of setoff, banker’s liens, chargeback or otherwise, and whether available to Bank under the law or under any other agreement between Bank and Customer concerning the Deposit Account) with respect to:

(i) the face amount of a check, draft, money order, instrument, wire transfer of funds, automated clearing house entry, credit from a merchant card transaction, other electronic transfer of funds or other item (A) deposited in or credited to the Deposit Account, whether before or after the date of this Agreement, and returned unpaid or otherwise uncollected or subject to an adjustment entry, whether for insufficient funds or for any other reason and without regard to the timeliness of the return or adjustment or the occurrence or timeliness of any other person’s notice of nonpayment or adjustment, (B) subject to a claim against the Bank for breach of transfer, presentment, encoding, retention or other warranty under Federal Reserve Regulations or Operating, Circulars, clearing house rules, the

2

UCC or other applicable law, or (C) for a merchant card transaction, against which a contractual demand for chargeback has been made (“Returned Items”):

(ii) service charges, fees or expenses payable or reimbursable to the Bank in connection with the Deposit Account or any related services (“Account Charges”); and

(iii) any adjustments or corrections of any posting or encoding errors (“Adjustments”).

(b) Creditor agrees that notwithstanding receipt of the Notice of Exclusive Control, Bank may exercise Bank’s rights and remedies in connection with any liens or claims it may have in or on the Deposit Account as described in this Section 6.

7. Statements. At Customer’s expense, Bank will send copies of all statements sent to Customer for the Deposit Account to Creditor at Creditor’s address set forth below Creditor’s signature at the end of this Agreement. Until this Agreement is terminated, Customer authorizes Bank to disclose to Creditor at Creditor’s request any information concerning the Deposit Account, including but not limited to the identity of any other party with which Customer and Bank have executed control agreements.

8. Returned items, Account Charges, and Adjustments. Bank may debit the Deposit Account for Returned Items, Account Charges and Adjustments. If at any time after Creditor exercises exclusive control over the Deposit Account (a) funds are not available in the Deposit Account to cover the amount of any Returned Item. Account Charge or Adjustment, and (b) Customer fails to pay such amount within fifteen (15) Business Days of Bank’s written demand therefor, then Creditor agrees that it will pay, within ten (10) Business Days of a written demand by Bank, amounts owed for each such Returned Item, Account Charge or Adjustment that is not paid in full by Customer up to the amount of the proceeds received by Creditor from the Deposit Account, provided that Bank must make a demand from Creditor within 180 days of termination of this Agreement.

9. Indemnity and Hold Harmless of Bank by Customer. Customer hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Bank, its affiliates and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees (each, an “Indemnified Person”) against any and all claims, causes of action, liabilities, lawsuits, demands and damages (each, a “Claim”) asserted by Creditor or any other party (other than an Indemnified Person), including without limitation, any and all court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, in any way related to or arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, provided that no Indemnified Person shall be entitled to be indemnified to the extent that such Claims result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person.

10. Indemnification and Hold Harmless of Bank by Creditor. To the extent that an Indemnified Person is not promptly indemnified by Customer, Creditor shall indemnify and hold harmless such Indemnified Person against any and all Claims (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) asserted by persons other than an Indemnified Person and arising from any Notice of Exclusive Control from Creditor except to the extent such Claims result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Bank or any other Indemnified Person; provided that in no event shall Creditor be liable for any special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages, or lost profits. Creditor agrees that Bank is released from any and all liabilities to the Creditor arising from the terms of this Agreement except to the extent such liabilities arise from Bank’s or another Indemnified Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

11. Limitation of Liability. IN NO EVENT SHALL BANK BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT WHETHER ANY CLAIM IS BASED ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY THEORY IN CONTRACT OR TORT)

3

AND WHETHER THE LIKELIHOOD OF SUCH DAMAGES WAS KNOWN TO BANK AND REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ANY CLAIM OR ACTION.

12. Amendments. This Agreement and all exhibits attached hereto may be amended only by a written agreement signed by Bank, Creditor, and Customer.

13. Notices.

(a) Any notice, other than a Notice of Exclusive Control, or other communication provided for or allowed hereunder shall be in writing and shall be considered to have been validly given (i) when received if delivered personally (whether by messenger, hand delivery or otherwise) or by overnight delivery or by facsimile to the recipient to the address or facsimile number set forth below the signature of the applicable party hereto, or (ii) 72 hours after being deposited in the United States mail, registered or certified, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, if sent to the address and addressee as set forth below the signature of the applicable party hereto. The addresses and facsimile numbers to which notices or other communications are to be given (including statements delivered pursuant to Section 7 and a Notice of Exclusive Control pursuant to Section 13(b) below) may be changed from time to time by notice given as provided herein.

(b) A Notice of Exclusive Control shall be in writing, must be in the form set forth in Exhibit A hereto, must be delivered to the address listed below Bank’s signature at the end of this Agreement via hand delivery, messenger, overnight delivery or facsimile, and shall be considered to have been validly given when actually received, except that a facsimile will be considered to have been validly given only when acknowledged in writing by Bank (Bank agrees that it will use its good faith effort to promptly acknowledge receipt of such facsimile). To the extent Creditor does not deliver the Notice of Exclusive Control as set forth in this Section 13 or to the address listed below Bank’s signature at the end of this Agreement, Creditor (a) acknowledges that Bank may not be able to

respond to such Notice of Exclusive Control pursuant to Section 5 above, and (b) agrees that Bank will not be held liable for any failure to respond to such Notice of Exclusive Control.

(c) If deemed necessary, by Bank to enable Bank to comply with the provisions of §326 of the USA PATRIOT Act, Creditor agrees that it will provide Bank with a copy of its formation documentation when delivering a Notice of Exclusive Control, unless such documentation has previously been provided to Bank, and Bank can verify that such documentation is still maintained in Bank’s files (provided that no such request by Bank shall delay the effectiveness of any such Notice of Exclusive Control).

14. Integration Provision. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among Bank, Customer and Creditor with respect to Creditor’s control over the Deposit Account and matters related thereto, and all prior communications, whether verbal or written, between any of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof shall be of no further effect or evidentiary value.

15. Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts that, when signed by all parties, shall constitute one agreement.

16. Relationship of the Parties. Nothing in this Agreement shall create any agency or fiduciary relationship between Customer, Creditor and Bank.

17. Governing Law and Jurisdiction. The parties hereto agree that this Agreement shall be governed exclusively under and in accordance with the laws of the State of California. All parties hereto each submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and Federal courts in Santa Clara County, California.

18. Jury Trial Waiver. CUSTOMER, CREDITOR, AND BANK EACH WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR BASED UPON THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY CONTEMPLATED TRANSACTION,

4

INCLUDING CONTRACT, TORT, BREACH OF DUTY AND ALL OTHER CLAIMS. THIS WAIVER IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR ALL PARTIES TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT, EACH PARTY HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS COUNSEL.

WITHOUT INTENDING IN ANY WAY TO LIMIT THE PARTIES’ AGREEMENT TO WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY, if the above waiver of the right to a trial by jury is not enforceable, the parties hereto agree that any and all disputes or controversies of any nature between them arising at any time out of or based upon this Agreement or any transaction contemplated herein shall be decided by a reference to a private judge, mutually selected by the parties (or, if they cannot agree, by the Presiding Judge of the Santa Clara County, California Superior Court) appointed in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedure Section 638 (or pursuant to comparable provisions of federal law if the dispute falls within the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts), sitting without a jury, in Santa Clara County, California; and the parties hereby submit to the jurisdiction of such court. The reference proceedings shall be conducted pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure §§ 638 through 645.1, inclusive. The private judge shall have the power, among others, to grant provisional relief, including without limitation, entering temporary restraining orders, issuing preliminary and permanent injunctions and appointing receivers. All such proceedings shall be closed to the public and confidential and all records relating thereto shall be permanently sealed. If during the course of any dispute, a party desires to seek provisional relief, but a judge has not been appointed at that point pursuant to the judicial reference procedures, then such party may apply to the Santa Clara County, California Superior Court for such relief. The proceeding before the private judge shall be conducted in the same manner as it would be before a court under the rules of evidence applicable to judicial proceedings. The parties shall be entitled to discovery which shall be conducted in the same

manner as it would be before a court under the rules of discovery applicable to judicial proceedings. The private judge shall oversee discovery and may enforce all discovery rules and order applicable to judicial proceedings in the same manner as a trial court judge. The parties agree that the selected or appointed private judge shall have the power to decide all issues in the action or proceeding, whether of fact or of law, and shall report a statement of decision thereon pursuant to the California Code of Civil Procedure § 644(a). Nothing in this paragraph shall limit the right of any party at any time to exercise self-help remedies, foreclose against collateral, or obtain provisional remedies. The private judge shall also determine all issues relating to the applicability, interpretation, and enforceability of this paragraph.

19. Successors. The terms of this Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective corporate successors or heirs and personal representatives. Customer may not assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of Creditor and Bank. Creditor may assign this Agreement upon written notice to Bank; provided, that such assignee must assume in writing or by operation of law all of Creditor’s obligations under this Agreement. Bank may assign this Agreement upon written notice to Creditor (which shall be given to Creditor at the same time such notice is provided to Customer); provided, that such assignee must assume in writing or by operation of law all of Bank’s obligations under this Agreement.

20. Attorneys’ Fees, Costs and Expenses. In any action or proceeding between Bank and any other party to this agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees and other reasonable costs and expenses incurred, in addition to any other relief to which it may be entitled.

21. Termination; Survival. Customer may terminate this Agreement only with the written consent of Creditor. Creditor may terminate this Agreement by giving Bank and Customer written notice of termination. Bank may

5

terminate this Agreement by giving Creditor and Customer thirty (30) calendar days’ prior written notice of termination unless termination is a result of Bank’s closure of the Deposit Account pursuant to its rights set forth in the Deposit Agreement or in accordance with applicable law, in which case, Creditor’s receipt of notice shall be governed by Section 4 hereof. Subject to the

foregoing, this Agreement automatically terminates when the Deposit Account closes. Sections 9, 10, 11, 17, 18 and 20 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

[Signature page follows.]

6

BANK: |  | SILICON VALLEY BANK |  |  |  |
|  | By: |  |  |  |
|  | Title: |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Deposit Liability Management |  |
|  | Address for Notices: |  |
|  | Silicon Valley Bank |  |
|  | Deposit Liability Management |  |
|  | 3003 Tasman Drive, Mail Sort HF 184 |  |
|  | Santa Clara, CA 95054 |  |
|  | Telephone: (408) 654-5071 |  |
|  | Facsimile: (408) 496-2409 |  |
CUSTOMER: |  |  |  | ,
|  | a |  |  |  |
|  | TIN* |  |  |  |
|  | By: |  |  |  |
|  | Name: |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Title: |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Address for Notices: |  |
|  | Telephone: |  |
|  | Facsimile: |  |
CREDITOR: |  |  |  | ,
|  | TIN* |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | By: |  |  |  |
|  | Name: |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Title: |  |  |  |  |  |
|  | Address for Notices: |  |  |  |
|  | Telephone: |  |  |  |
|  | Facsimile: |  |  |  |

* | Pursuant to §326 of the USA PATRIOT Act, Bank is required to obtain a Tax Identification Number (TIN) from all parties to this Agreement.

Exhibit A

Notice of Exclusive Control

To: |  | Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) |  |
From: |  |  |  | (“Creditor”)
Re: |  |  |  | (“Customer”)
Date: |  |  |  |

Pursuant to the Deposit Account Control Agreement dated (“Agreement”) entered among Bank, Customer and Creditor, Creditor hereby notifies Bank of Creditor’s exercise of Creditor’s rights under the Agreement and directs Bank to cease complying with instructions or any directions originated by Customer or its agents.

Creditor agrees that it will provide Bank with a copy of its formation documentation when delivering a Notice of Exclusive Control if deemed necessary by Bank to enable Bank to comply with the provisions of §326 of the USA PATRIOT Act (provided that no such request by Bank shall delay the effectiveness of any such Notice of Exclusive Control).

CREDITOR: |  |
|  | By |  |
|  | Title: |  |
ACKNOWLEDGED BY: |  | SILICON VALLEY BANK
(for facsimile only: |  | By |  |
|  | Name: |  |
|  | Title: |  |
|  | Date: |  |
|  | Time: |  |

Exhibit D

Form of Legal Opinion

[See attached.]

Form of Legal Opinion

October 5, 2012

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

932 Southwood Blvd.

Incline Village, NV 89451

Re: | Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement dated as of October 5, 2012 of AxoGen, Inc. and AxoGen Corporation

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel for AxoGen, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Company”), and AxoGen Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Subsidiary”), in connection with the Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2012 (the “Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement”), by and between the Company and PDL BioPharma, Inc. (“PDL”). Terms defined in the Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement are used as therein defined, unless otherwise defined herein. References in this opinion letter to the “Delaware UCC” and “Minnesota UCC” are to the Uniform Commercial Code as currently in effect in the State of Delaware and the State of Minnesota, respectively. The terms in paragraphs 9-12 that are defined in the Delaware UCC or the Minnesota UCC and that are not capitalized have the respective meanings given to them in the Delaware UCC or the Minnesota UCC, as applicable. This opinion letter is being delivered to you pursuant to Section 2.03(c)(E) of the Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement.

In connection with this opinion letter, we have examined originals, or copies certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, and the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Subsidiary, and such other documents and records, and other instruments as we have deemed appropriate for purposes of the opinions set forth herein, including the following documents (the documents referred to in clauses (a) through (g) below are referred to herein as the “Transaction Documents”):

(a) the Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement;

(b) the Assignment of Interests;

(c) the Guaranty and Collateral Agreement;

(d) the Deposit Agreement;

(e) an unfiled copy of a Uniform Commercial Code financing statement (the “Minnesota Financing Statement”) naming the Company as debtor and PDL as secured party, to be filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Minnesota (the “Minnesota Filing Office”), and

(g) an unfiled copy of a Uniform Commercial Code financing statement (the “Delaware Financing Statement”) naming the Subsidiary as debtor and PDL as secured party, to be filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Delaware Filing Office”).

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

October 5, 2012

Page 2

We have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of natural persons, the authenticity of the documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to the original documents of all documents submitted to us as certified, facsimile or photostatic copies, and the authenticity of the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies. We have also assumed that the Transaction Documents constitute valid and binding obligations of each party thereto other than the Company and the Subsidiary party thereto.

As to any facts that are material to the opinions hereinafter expressed that we did not independently establish or verify, we have relied without investigation upon the representations of the Company contained in the Transaction Documents and upon certificates of officers of the Company.

In rendering the opinions set forth herein, whenever a statement or opinion set forth therein is qualified by “to our knowledge,” “known to us” or by words of similar import, it is intended to indicate that, during the course of our representation of the Company in the subject transaction, no information has come to the attention of those lawyers in our firm who have rendered legal services in connection with such transaction that gives us actual knowledge of the inaccuracy of such statement or opinion. We have not undertaken any independent investigation to determine the accuracy of facts material to any such statement or opinion, and no inference as to such statement or opinion should be drawn from the fact of our representation of the Company and the Subsidiary.

We have relied upon a certificate of an officer of the Company dated the date hereof, certifying that the items listed in such certificate are (i) all of the material indentures, loan or credit agreements, leases, guarantees, mortgages, security agreements, bonds, notes, other agreements or instruments (the “Other Company Agreements”) to which the Company or the Subsidiary are a party, and (ii) all of the judicial or administrative orders, writs, judgments, awards, injunctions and decrees (the “Company Orders”) binding on the Company or the Subsidiary.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, and to the limitations and qualifications described below, we are of the opinion that:

1. The Company is a corporation validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

2. The Subsidiary is a corporation validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware.

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

October 5, 2012

Page 3

3. Each of the Company and the Subsidiary has the corporate power and authority to enter into and perform the Transaction Documents to which it is a party, has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of such Transaction Documents and has duly executed and delivered such Transaction Documents.

4. Each Transaction Document to which the Company or the Subsidiary is a party is the valid and binding obligation of the Company or the Subsidiary, as applicable, enforceable against the Company and the Subsidiary in accordance with its terms.

5. The execution and delivery by the Company and the Subsidiary of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party do not, and the performance by the Company and the Subsidiary of their respective obligations thereunder will not, (i) result in a violation of the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, or the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Subsidiary, (ii) result in a breach or default under any Other Company Agreement, (iii) result in a violation of any Company Order or (iv) result in or require the creation or imposition of any lien or encumbrance upon any assets of the Company or the Subsidiary under any Other Company Agreements (for the avoidance of doubt, any liens and security interests created pursuant to the Transaction Documents are excluded from this clause (iv)).

6. The execution and delivery by each of the Company and the Subsidiary of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party do not, and the performance by each of the Company and the Subsidiary of its obligations thereunder will not, require any approval from or filing with any governmental authority of the United States, the State of New York, the State of Minnesota or under any provision of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or the Delaware UCC, other than the filings and records contemplated by the Transaction Documents to perfect security interests.

7. The execution and delivery by each of the Company and the Subsidiary of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party do not, and the performance by the Company and the Subsidiary of its obligations thereunder will not, result in any violation of any federal law of the United States, the law of the State of New York or any regulation thereunder, the law of the State of Minnesota or any regulation thereunder, or any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or Delaware UCC.

8. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiary is, or will be after giving effect to the sale of the Assigned Interests and the use of proceeds therefrom, an “investment company” within the meaning of, and subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

9. The Guaranty and Collateral Agreement is effective to create in favor of PDL, as security for the Secured Obligations, as defined in the Guaranty and Collateral Agreement, a security interest (the “Article 9 Security Interest”) in the collateral described in the Guaranty and Collateral Agreement in which a security interest may be created under Article 9 of the New York UCC (the “Article 9 Collateral”).

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

October 5, 2012

Page 4

10. Upon the filing of the Minnesota Financing Statement with the Minnesota Filing Office, the Article 9 Security Interest in that portion of the Article 9 Collateral in which a security interest may be perfected by the filing of a financing statement under the Minnesota UCC will be perfected.

11. Upon the filing of the Delaware Financing Statement with the Delaware Filing Office, the Article 9 Security Interest in that portion of the Article 9 Collateral in which a security interest may be perfected by the filing of a financing statement under the Delaware UCC will be perfected.

12. The Article 9 Security Interest in the Deposit Account as defined in the Deposit Agreement will be perfected by control upon the execution and delivery of the Deposit Agreement.

The opinions expressed above are subject to the following limitations, exceptions, qualifications and assumptions:

A. The opinion expressed in paragraph 4 is subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer and other similar laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors generally and general principles of equity.

B. Provisions of the Transaction Documents relating to indemnification or exculpation may be limited by public policy or by law.

C. The opinions expressed in this opinion letter are limited to the laws of the State of New York, the laws of the State of Minnesota, the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Delaware UCC (subject to the immediately succeeding sentence) and the Federal laws of the United States of America, and we express no opinion with respect to the laws of any other state or jurisdiction. With respect to the applicable provisions of the Delaware UCC and Minnesota UCC we have, with your permission, confined our investigation of the laws of such jurisdiction to an examination of the relevant provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in such jurisdiction as set forth in a standard compilation such as the CCH Secured Transactions Guide. To the extent that our opinions involve the laws of the State of Minnesota, we have relied, with their consent, solely on the opinion letter of Kaplan, Strangis and Kaplan, P.A., dated the date hereof. We express no opinion on any matter covered by laws, rules or regulations applicable to (a) patents, copyrights, trademarks and other proprietary rights and licenses, (b) the U.S. Food and Drug Administration or (c) health care regulatory matters or health care reimbursement matters.

D. For purposes of our opinions in paragraphs 1 and 2 hereof as to the valid existence and good standing of the Company and the Subsidiary, we have relied solely upon good standing or similar certificates issued by the appropriate authorities in the subject jurisdictions.

E. For purposes of the opinion in paragraph 7, we have considered only such laws and regulations that in our experience are typically applicable to a transaction of the nature contemplated by the Transaction Documents.

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

October 5, 2012

Page 5

F. Certain waivers by the Company and the Subsidiary in the Transaction Documents may relate to matters that cannot, as a matter of law, be effectively waived. Without limiting the foregoing, you should be aware that under applicable law guarantors may be entitled to certain rights or protections which as a matter of statutory or common law may not be waived or altered. We express no opinion herein as to the enforceability of any provisions of the Guaranty and Collateral Agreement which purport to waive or alter such rights or protections, except to the extent permitted by law.

G. The enforceability of the Transaction Documents, may be limited by the unenforceability under certain circumstances of provisions imposing penalties, forfeitures, late payment charges or an increase in interest rate upon delinquency in payment or an occurrence of default.

H. For purposes of the opinion in paragraph 6, where any Other Company Agreement states that it is governed by laws of a state other than the State of New York, we have not made any investigation of the laws of such other state but have merely assumed that they would be interpreted in accordance with their plain meaning. We have not reviewed the covenants in the Other Company Agreements that contain financial ratios and other similar financial restrictions, and no opinion is provided with respect thereto.

I. We express no opinion as to:

(i) The enforceability of any provision of the Transaction Documents insofar as it provides that any Person purchasing a participation from PDL or other Person may exercise set-off or similar rights with respect to such participation or that a lender or other Person may exercise set-off or similar rights other than in accordance with applicable law.

(ii) The enforceability of any provision of the Transaction Documents permitting modification thereof only by means of an agreement in writing signed by the parties thereto.

(iii) The sale, assignment and transfer of the Assigned Interests being a true sale.

(iv) The enforceability of any provision of the Transaction Documents purporting to waive the right to trial by jury.

L. In connection with the opinions set forth in paragraphs 9-12, we have assumed that the Company or the Subsidiary has, or has power to transfer, rights (to the extent necessary to grant a security interest) in the Article 9 Collateral existing on the date hereof and will have, or will have the power to transfer, rights (to such extent) in property which becomes Article 9 Collateral after the date hereof.

PDL BioPharma, Inc.

October 5, 2012

Page 6

M. In connection with the opinions set forth in paragraphs 9-12, the perfection of a security interest in any collateral consisting of “proceeds” (as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code of the applicable jurisdiction) is subject to limitations set forth in Section 9-315 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the applicable jurisdiction.

This opinion letter is effective only as of the date hereof. We do not assume responsibility for updating this opinion letter as of any date subsequent to its date, and we assume no responsibility for advising you of any changes with respect to any matters described in this opinion letter that may occur subsequent to the date of this opinion letter or from the discovery, subsequent to the date of this opinion letter, of information not previously known to us pertaining to the events occurring prior to such date.

This opinion letter is furnished by us solely for the benefit of PDL and its respective successors and permitted assigns and participants pursuant to the Revenue Interests Purchase Agreement, and this opinion letter may not be relied upon by such parties for any other purpose or by any other person or entity for any purpose whatsoever. This opinion letter is not to be quoted in whole or in part or otherwise referred to or used or furnished to any other person, except as may be required by any governmental authority or pursuant to legal process, without our express written consent.

Very truly yours,